
 
 

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

 
MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION  

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
 
To: The Members of the Audit and Governance Committee 
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee 
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd March, 2023 at 2.00 pm in the Authority 
Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP. 
 
The meeting will be live webcast. To access the webcast please go to the 
Combined Authority’s website at the time of the meeting and follow the 
instructions on the page. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Jonathan Vali on 
telephone number 07741 599203. 
 

Yours faithfully 

 
Chief Executive  

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or 
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the 
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.  
 
If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries 
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer on the above number or email 
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.ukdemocratic.services@liverpool
cityregion-ca.gov.uk.  
 
 A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at 
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-
Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf 
 

mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf


 
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 
AGENDA 

 

1 APOLOGIES  

   

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

3 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 25 JANUARY 2023  

 To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 25 January 2023 
 

  (Pages 1 - 4) 

4 ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 To consider a report of the Executive Director for Corporate Services 
 

  (Pages 5 - 24) 

5 EXTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  

 This reports provides the Members of the Committee with an update from 
the External Auditors, Mazars on the progress of the 2021/22 audit 
 

  (Pages 25 - 36) 

6 INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  

 To consider a report of the Head of Internal Audit 
 

  (Pages 37 - 64) 

7 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN AND CHARTER 2023-24  

 To consider a report of the Head of Internal Audit 
 

  (Pages 65 - 114) 

8 RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  

 To consider a report of the Executive Director for Corporate Services 
 

  (Pages 115 - 136) 

9 CIPFA PUBLICATION: AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE 
FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE  

 To consider a report of the Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer 
 

  (Pages 137 - 142) 



 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



LCR AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 
 

At a meeting of the LCR Audit & Governance Committee held in the Authority 
Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Wednesday, 25th January, 2023 the 
following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 

Councillor Edna Finneran 
Chairperson of the Committee 

(in the Chair) 
 
Councillor Graham Morgan, LCR Combined Authority 
Councillor Mike Wharton, LCR Combined Authority 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce, LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Councillor Pat Moloney, LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
Jean Gleave, Indepedent Member  
 
  
30 APOLOGIES  
 
31 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
No declarations of interest were made.  
 
32 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 30 NOVEMBER 2022  
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 30 November 2022 were approved as a correct record.   
 
33 APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR  
 
The Committee was invited to consider appointing to the position of Vice-Chair of the 
Committee that had been vacant since the resignation of Cllr Hansen from the Committee 
and from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. It was reported that due to the last meeting 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee being inquorate, there had not been a nomination of 
a councillor to replace Cllr Hansen. 
 
RESOLVED – That consideration of the appointment of a Vice-Chair be deferred pending a 
nomination by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee of a further committee member.  
 
34 AUDIT PROGRESS UPDATE  
 
Mark Dalton, Senior Partner from Mazars, presented a report that provided an update on 
Mazars progress with delivering their responsibilities as the Combined Authority’s External 
Auditors, as well as highlighting pertinent national publications relating to local authority 
financial reporting.  
 
In particular, reference was made to Financial Reporting Council (FRC) Inspection Report 
that monitored the quality of the audits of large local government bodies. The findings were 
that overall the quality of audits were good, there had been a small increase in the number of 
audits requiring improvement. Assurance was provided to the Committee of the three Mazars 
led audits that had been reviewed, all had met the expected standards. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Councillors asked questions in relation to the FRC findings and what areas of weakness had 
been identified in other audits. In response it was stated that specific details were not known 
as these were not Mazars led audits, but the themes of property, planning and equipment 
had areas of challenge for many. The relatively small number of files reviewed as part of the 
FRC process was also commented on, and in response it was stated that this was an 
extensive risk assessed process that took into account a number of relevant factors to 
ensure a robust assessment. 
 
Clarification was sought on the timescale for undertaking a review of the Audit Committee in 
light of the most recent CIPFA guidance. In response it was stated that the Terms of 
Reference of the Committee had coincidentally recently been reviewed, but further details 
would be reported to the next meeting. 
 
RESOLVED – (1) That the Audit Progress Report be noted. 
 
(2) That the latest CIPFA Audit Committee Guidance be circulated to Committee Members in 
advance of the next meeting. 
 
35 ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING PROTOCOL  
 
The Committee consider a report inviting consideration of a revised and updated Anti-Money 
Laundering Protocol following a review of the approach and an Internal Audit of the 
effectiveness and awareness of procedures by Combined Authority employees. The revised 
Protocol was in accord with relevant legal requirements and guidance.  
 
Members asked questions and raised concerns in relation to the changes to the threshold for 
the application of client identification procedures for cash payments and whether raising the 
threshold posed risk. In response it was stated that there had been no instances of the 
current threshold having been met and that for larger transactions there would be other due 
diligence processes in place in addition. Assurance was provided that the proposed change 
was in line with the legal requirements and relevant guidance, and reflected the relative level 
of risk from cash transactions compared to non-cash transactions. 
 
Members emphasised the need to ensure appropriate awareness and training for staff who 
would be involved in transactions. 
 
RESOLVED – That the revised and updated Anti-Money Laundering Protocol as set out in 
appendix one of the report be approved (Cllr Burgess-Joyce voted against). 
 
36 INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Head of Internal Audit that provided an overview 
of the internal audit work completed in the third quarter and to be completed in the fourth 
quarter of 2022-23, in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23. 
 
Members asked questions in relation to the following activity within the report:- 
 

 Data Quality Audit and how the actions would be progressed. In response it was stated 
that the approach to performance indicators within the organisation would be reviewed to 
ensure it was more streamlined and there was closer alignment between corporate and 
project management processes.  

 Freeport Audit and ensuring the circumstances giving rise to error were addressed. In 
response it was stressed that the issues surrounding the error were understand and 
processes and training were in place to make this less likely to happen in the future.  

Page 2



 Emerging findings from the Know Your Customer Audit and solutions to ensure 
appropriate supply chain checks. In response it was clarified that this was not connected 
to money laundering prevention but in response to guidance arising from the Russian 
invasion of Ukraine and the need to be able to identify the entities an organisation works 
and trades with. The challenges of this guidance were acknowledged as was its 
connections with a range of Combined Authority activity and work was ongoing to 
develop an appropriate response. 

 
RESOLVED – That the Internal Audit quarterly update be noted.  
 
37 RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  
 
The Committee considered a report setting out Risk Management activity in the third quarter 
of 2022/23. 
 
Members welcomed the progress had been made with risk management within the 
Combined Authority. Clarity was sought on whether external support was used to review risk 
processes. In response it was confirmed that the most recent review of risk management 
processes and procedures had been undertaken by internal resources although the intention 
was to seek external review in the future, possibly working with the Combined Authority’s 
insurance brokers. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Risk Management Update be noted. 
 

 
The meeting closed at 2.42 pm 

 
Minutes 22 to 29 received as a correct record on the 22nd day of March 2023. 
 

 

Chairperson of the Committee 
 
 
 

 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title 

 
Accounting Policies  
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Policy Reform and Resources 

Summary of report  Accounting policies to be applied for 2022/23 
closure of accounts for consideration. 
 

Is this report exempt? No 
 
 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

No 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

None 
 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
 

A Fairer City Region  X 

A Stronger City Region  X 

A Cleaner City Region  X 

A Connected City Region  X 

A Vibrant City Region 
 

X 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Risk and Mitigation Yes see paragraph 4.2 
 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director Finance  
 

Appendices Yes Appendix 1 Accounting Policies 2022/23  
 

Background Documents No 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



LCR AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday, 22 March 2023 
 

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2022/23 
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

The purpose of this report is to provide the Members of the Committee with details 
of the accounting policies it is proposed to apply to the closure of the Combined 
Authority and Merseytravel’s annual accounts.  

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended that the Members of the Audit and Governance Committee: 
 

(a) note the accounting policies attached as Appendix 1 and provide comments 
thereon; and 

(b) approve the proposed accounting policies. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 On an annual basis the Authority is required to review its accounting policies to 

ensure that those being used are appropriate, accurate and are applicable for all 
significant transactions. 

 
3.2 The accounting policies have been reviewed by management and a copy of the 

proposed accounting policies to be applied for 2022/23 is included in Appendix 
One. The review conducted involved considering the following: 

 

 Whether the existing policies were fit for purpose; 

 Whether there has been any change in structure or type of transactions 
undertaken by the organisation that were not adequately reflected within the 
existing policies; 

 Any areas where understanding could be improved through expanded or 
simplified working; and 

 Consideration of any changes in accounting standards applied within the 
CIPFA Code. 

 
3.3 For 2022/23 there are no significant changes to accounting standards which have 

necessitated revisions to accounting policies. The accounting policies have, 
however been adjusted to take account of the temporary changes to the Code to 
address the national issue around accounting for infrastructure assets. In very 
generally terms this has seen the measurement basis for infrastructure assets 
amended to show net cost only. To allow sign off of the 2021/22 accounts, changes 
were required to address this issue and the amendment to accounting policies for 
2022/23 flows on from this. 

Page 6



 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1. Financial 
 
  None directly. 
 
4.2 Risks and Mitigation  
  

Accounting policies detail the Authority’s approach to the accounting treatment they 
intend to apply to various types of transactions within the statement of accounts. 
These are based on generally accepted accounting policies and prevailing 
accounting standards. Failure to review and update these may mean that the 
Authority applies incorrect accounting treatment. This is mitigated by undertaking an 
annual review of the accounting policies to ensure that these remain current and 
reflect the changes to the CIPFA Code. 

 
 
5. CONCLUSION 

 
The Authority’s accounting policies have been subject to review as detailed in the 
report and it is proposed that the policies applied for the preparation and closure of 
the 2022/2 accounts remain unchanged from the previous year. 

 
 

JOHN FOGARTY 
Executive Director of Corporate  

Services 
   

Metro Mayor STEVE ROTHERAM 
Portfolio Holder for Policy, Resources and 

Reform 
  

 
 
1 Accounting Policies 2022/23 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2022/23 
 
 
1 Accounting Policies 
 

General Principals 
 
 The Statement of Accounts summarises the Liverpool City Region Combined 

Authority’s transactions for the financial year 2022/23 and its position as at 31 March 
2023.  The Authority is required to prepare an Annual Statement of Accounts in 
accordance with the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, which require 
the accounts to be completed in accordance with proper accounting practices.  These 
practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom 2022/23, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). 

 
 The accounting convention adopted by the statement is principally historic cost, 

modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial 
instruments.  The Statement of Accounts has been completed on a going concern 
basis. 

 
 Accruals of Income and Expenditure 
 
 Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments 

are made or received.  In particular:  
  
 Revenue from contracts with service recipients, whether for services or the 

provision of goods, is recognised when (or as) the goods or services are 
transferred to the recipient in accordance with the performance obligations in 
the contract. 

 Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there 
is a gap between the date supplies are received and their consumption, they 
are carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet.  

 Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by 
employees) are recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather 
than when payments are made.  

 Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for 
respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest 
rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or 
determined by the contract.  

 Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been 
received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the 
Balance Sheet.  Where debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is 
written down and a charge made to revenue for the income that might not be 
collected.  

 
Agency Transactions 
 
Transactions are excluded from the Authority’s financial statements for all agency 
relationships.  As stipulated by the Code, the Authority is acting as an agent in 
situations when the Authority does not control the specified goods or services being 
provided by another party, before they are transferred to the customer.  All services 
are reviewed to determine who controls the right to the underlying goods or services 

Page 9



and when this is not deemed to be the Authority, the transactions have been excluded 
from the financial statements. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable 
without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are highly liquid 
investments that mature in 90 days or less from the date of acquisition and that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.  
 
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Authority’s 
cash management. 
 
Changes in Accounting Policies, Estimations, Errors and Prior Period 
Adjustments 
 
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to 
correct a material error.  Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for 
prospectively, i.e. in the current and future years affected by the change and do not 
give rise to a prior period adjustment. 
 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting 
practices or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect 
of transactions, other events and conditions on the Authority’s financial position or 
financial performance.  Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless 
stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the 
prior period as if the new policy had always been applied. 
 
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by 
amending opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 
 
Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 
 
Services are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-
current assets during the year:  
 
 Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service; 
 Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there 

are no accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses 
can be written off; and 

 Amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service.  
 

The Authority is not required to raise levy to fund depreciation, revaluation and 
impairment losses or amortisation.  However, it is required to make an annual 
contribution from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement 
equal to an amount calculated on a prudent basis determined by the Authority in 
accordance with statutory guidance (known as the Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP)).  Depreciation, revaluation losses and amortisation are therefore replaced by 
the MRP in the General Fund Balance by way of an adjusting transaction with the 
Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference 
between the two. 
 
 

Page 10



 
 
 
 
Employee Benefits 
 
Benefits Payable During Employment  
 
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled wholly within 12 months of 
the year-end.  They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave 
and paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits for current employees and 
are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render 
service to the Authority.  An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any 
form of leave, e.g. time off in lieu) earned by employees but not taken before the year-
end which employees can carry forward into the next financial year.  The accrual is 
made at the wage and salary rates applicable in the following accounting year, being 
the period in which the employee takes the benefit.  The accrual is charged to Surplus 
or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out through the Movement in 
Reserves Statement so that holiday entitlements are charged to revenue in the 
financial year in which the holiday absence occurs.  
 
Termination Benefits  
 
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Authority to 
terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s 
decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits. They are 
charged on an accruals basis to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement at the earlier of when the Authority can no longer 
withdraw the offer of those benefits, or when the Authority recognises costs for a 
restructuring.  
 
Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions 
require the General Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the 
Authority to the pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated 
according to the relevant accounting standards.  In the Movement in Reserves 
Statement, appropriations are required to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove 
the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination benefits and 
replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any 
such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.  
 
Post-employment Benefits  
 
Employees of the Authority are members of a Local Government Pensions Scheme, 
administered by Merseyside Pension Fund.  This is a defined benefit pension scheme. 
 
The liabilities of the Merseyside Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are included 
in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method – i.e. an 
assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits 
earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee 
turnover rates, etc., and projections of projected earnings for current employees.  
 
Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based 
on the indicative rate of return on high quality corporate bonds.  
 

Page 11



The assets of Merseyside Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are included in 
the Balance Sheet at their fair value.  
 
 
The change in the net pension liability is analysed into the following components:  
 
Service cost comprising: 
 
 Current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service 

earned this year.  These costs are allocated in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement to the services for which the employees worked. 

 Past service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment 
or curtailment whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years.  
The costs are debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.    

 Net interest on the net defined benefit liability, i.e. the change during the period 
in the net defined benefit liability that arises from the passage of time.  The net 
interest is charged to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 
Remeasurements comprising: 
 
 The return on plan assets – (excluding amounts included in net interest above) 

charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure. 

 Actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise 
because events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial 
valuation or because actuaries have updated their assumptions – charged to 
the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

 Employer’s contributions paid to Merseyside Pension Fund – not accounted for 
as an expense. 

 
In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund 
Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Authority to the pension fund 
or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the 
relevant accounting standards.  In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this means 
that there are transfers to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits 
and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to 
the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the 
year-end.  The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby 
measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund Balance of being required to 
account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are 
earned by employees.  
 
Discretionary Benefits  
 
The Authority also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement 
benefits in the event of early retirements.  Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result 
of an award to any member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the 
award and accounted for using the same policies as are applied to the Local 
Government Pension Scheme. 
 
Events after the Reporting Period 
 

Page 12



Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and 
unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when 
the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue.  Two types of events can be 
identified:  
 
 Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the 

reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events; 
and 

 Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – 
the Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a 
category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes 
of the nature of the events and their estimated financial effect.  

 
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the 
Statement of Accounts. 
 
Fair Value Measurement 
 
The Authority measures some of its non-financial assets such as surplus assets at fair 
value at each reporting date.  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 
asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  
The fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset takes place 
either: 
 In the principal market for the asset, or 
 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the 

asset. 
 
The Authority measures the fair value of an asset or liability using the assumptions that 
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market 
participants act in their economic best interest. 
 
When measuring the fair value of a non-financial asset, the Authority takes into account 
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its 
highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use. 
 
The Authority uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and 
for which sufficient data is available making use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 
Financial Assets 
 
Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach 
that reflects the business model for holding the financial assets and their cashflow 
characteristics.  There are three main classes of financial assets measured at: 
 
 Amortised cost 
 Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), and 
 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

 
           The Authority’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows. 

Financial assets are therefore classified as amortised cost. 

Page 13



 
Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost 
 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet 
when the Authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial 
instrument and are initially measured at fair value.  They are subsequently measured 
at their amortised cost.  Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) for 
interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the 
effective rate of interest for the instrument.  For most of the financial assets held by the 
Authority, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the 
outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the 
CIES is the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement. 
 
Where the Authority has made loans at less than market rates (soft loans) a loss is 
recorded in the CIES (debited to the appropriate service) for the present value of the 
interest that will be foregone over the life of the instrument, resulting in a lower 
amortised cost than the outstanding principal.  Interest is credited to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES at a marginally higher effective 
rate of interest than the rate receivable from the lender, with the difference serving to 
increase the amortised cost of the loan in the Balance Sheet.  Statutory provisions 
require that the impact of soft loans on the General Fund Balance is the interest 
receivable for the financial year.  This is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Any gains or losses that arise on the derecognition of an asset are credited or debited 
to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES. 
 
Expected Credit Loss Model 
 
The Authority recognises expected credit losses on all its financial assets held at 
amortised cost either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The expected credit loss model 
also applies to lease receivables and contract assets.   
 
Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation that future cash flows may 
not take place because the borrower could default on their obligations.  Credit risk 
plays a crucial part in assessing losses.  Where risk has increased significantly since 
an instrument was initially recognised, losses are assessed on a lifetime basis.  Where 
risk has not increased significantly or remains low, losses are assessed on the basis 
of 12-month expected losses. 
  
Financial Liabilities  
 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured 
at fair value and are carried at their amortised cost.  Annual charges to the Financing 
and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (CIES) for interest payable are based on the carrying amount 
of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument.  The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised.  
 
For most of the borrowings that the Authority has, this means that the amount 
presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued 

Page 14



interest); and interest charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement is the amount payable for the year according to the loan agreement. 
 
Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the CIES, regulations allow the 
impact on the General Fund Balance to be spread over future years.  The Authority 
has a policy of spreading the gain or loss over the term that was remaining on the loan 
against which the premium was payable or discount receivable when it was repaid.  
The reconciliation of amounts charged to the CIES to the net charge required against 
the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

 
Government Grants and Contributions 
 
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third 
party contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Authority when there 
is reasonable assurance that:  
 
 The Authority will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and  
 The grants or contributions will be received.  
 
Amounts recognised as due to the Authority are not credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or 
contribution have been satisfied.  Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future 
economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset in the form of the grant 
or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future 
economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor.  
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been 
satisfied are carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors.  When conditions are satisfied, 
the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (attributable revenue 
grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income and Expenditure 
(non-ringfenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement.  Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital 
expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve.  Where it has been 
applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account.  Amounts in the Capital Grants 
Unapplied reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account once they have 
been applied to fund capital expenditure. 
 
Goodwill 
 
Business combinations have been accounted for under IFRS 3 using the purchase 
method. Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest 
in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as goodwill and is not amortised. 
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses, with the carrying value being reviewed for impairment, at least annually and 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired. 
 

Page 15



For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the related cash-
generating units monitored by management, usually at operating segment level or, if 
smaller, statutory company level. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill, an impairment loss 
is recognised in the income statement. 
 
The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to a cash-generating unit is taken into 
account when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the unit, or of an operation 
within it.  
 
Merseytravel has taken advantage of the option under the first time adoption provisions 
of The Code to use the brought forward value of goodwill as at 1 April 2009 as an 
appropriate approximation of fair value. 
 
Heritage Assets 
 
The Authority holds statues and artworks, which are held and maintained as a 
contribution to knowledge and culture. 
 
Heritage assets are recognised and measured in accordance with the Authority’s 
accounting policies on property, plant and equipment.  However, some of the 
measurement rules are relaxed where it is not practicable to obtain a valuation at a 
cost which is commensurate with the benefits to users of the financial statements.  In 
these circumstances heritage assets are measured at historical cost (less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses). 
 
Intangible Assets 
 
Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are 
controlled by the Authority (e.g. software licences) is capitalised when it is expected 
that future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to 
the Authority.  Intangible assets are measured at cost and the balance is amortised 
over its useful life to the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement on a straight-line basis.  An asset is tested for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired – any losses 
recognised are posted to the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (CIES). Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line 
in the CIES.  
 
Amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to 
have an impact on the General Fund Balance.  These entries are therefore reversed 
out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted 
to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Business combinations have been accounted for under IFRS 3 using the purchase 
method.  Any excess over the cost of the business combination over the Group’s 
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
is initially recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and is 
not amortised. After initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses, with the carrying value being reviewed for impairment, at least 
annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
value may be impaired. 

 
Interests in Companies and Other Entities 

Page 16



 
The Authority has material interests in companies and other entities which require it to 
prepare group accounts.  In the Authority’s own single-entity accounts, the interests in 
companies and other entities are recorded at cost, less any impairments. 
 
Inclusion in the Authority Group is dependent upon the extent of the Authority’s interest 
and power to influence an entity. An assessment of all the Authority’s interests is 
carried out each financial year to determine the relationships that exist and whether 
they should be included within the Authority’s group accounts. 
 
This assessment determines whether the entity is accounted for as: 
 
 A subsidiary – the Authority controls the entity and has the power to govern its 

financial and operating policies so as to benefit from its activities; or 
 An associate – the Authority has significant influence over the entity and has 

the power to participate in its financial and operating policies; or 
 Joint Operations – the Authority is party to the contractually and binding agreed 

sharing of control over the organisation such that strategic financial and 
operating decisions require the unanimous consent of all parties sharing 
control. 
 

Inventories and Long-term Contracts 
 
Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value determined on a first in first out basis.  
 
Long-term contracts are accounted for on the basis of charging the Surplus or Deficit 
on the Provision of Services with the consideration allocated to the performance 
obligations satisfied based on the goods or services transferred to the service recipient 
during the financial year. 
 
Leases 
 
Leases are classed as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or 
equipment from the lessor to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating 
leases. 
 
Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and building elements are 
considered separately for classification. 
 
The Authority as Lessee 
 
Finance Leases 
 
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance 
Sheet at the commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease’s 
inception (or the present value of the minimum lease payments, if lower).  The asset 
recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. Initial indirect 
costs of the Authority are added to the carrying amount of the asset.  Premiums paid 
on entry into a lease are applied to writing down the lease liability. 

 
Lease payments are apportioned between: 
 

Page 17



 A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment 
– applied to write down the lease liability; and 

 A finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 

 
Property, plant, and equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for 
using the policies applied generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being 
charged over the lease term if this shorter than the asset’s estimated useful life. 
 
Statutory requirements mean that depreciation, revaluations and impairment losses 
are not a proper charge against the General Fund Balance.  Instead a prudent annual 
contribution is made from revenue funds towards the deemed capital investment. 
Depreciation and revaluation and impairment losses are therefore substituted by a 
revenue contribution in the General Fund Balance by way of an adjusting transaction 
with the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the 
difference between the two. 
 
Operating Leases 
 
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the 
leased property, plant or equipment.  Charges are made on a straight line basis over 
the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is 
a rent free period at the commencement of the lease). 

 
The Authority as Lessor 
 
Finance Leases 
 
Where the Authority grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant and 
equipment the relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal.  At 
the commencement of the lease, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance 
Sheet is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  A 
gain, representing the Authority’s net investment in the lease, is credited to the same 
line in the CIES also as part of the gain or loss on disposal(i.e. netted off against the 
carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal), matched by a lease (long term 
debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet. 
 
Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between: 
 
 A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property – applied to write 

down the lease debtor; and 
 Finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and 

Expenditure line in the CIES). 
 

The gain credited to the CIES on disposal is not permitted by statute to increase the 
General Fund Balance and is required to be treated as a capital receipt.  Where the 
amount due in relation the lease asset is to be settled by the payment of rentals in 
future financial years, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Deferred 
Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  When the future 
rentals are received, the element for the capital receipt for the disposal of the asset 
is used to write down the lease debtor.  At this point, the deferred capital receipts are 
transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 

Page 18



 
The written off value of disposals is not a charge against the levy, as the cost of non-
current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing.  
Amounts are therefore appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Operating Leases 
 
Where the Authority grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or 
equipment, the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet.  Rental income is credited to 
the Other Operating Expenditure line in the CIES.  Credits are made on a straight-
line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of 
payments. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the relevant asset and charged as an expense over 
the lease term on the same basis as rental income. 

 
Overheads and Support Services 
 
In line with best practice, charges for the cost of central support services are fully 
charged or apportioned to those that benefit from the supply of service using time 
recording and other appropriate methods. 
 
Property Plant and Equipment 
 
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply 
of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are 
expected to be used during more than one financial year are classified as Property, 
Plant and Equipment.  
 
Recognition  
 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and 
Equipment is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the 
future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the 
Authority and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  Expenditure that 
maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits 
or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is 
incurred.  
 
Measurement  
 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:  
 The purchase price; and 
 Any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 

necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. 

 
The Authority does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under 
construction.  
 
The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, 
unless the acquisition does not have commercial substance (i.e. it will not lead to a 
variation in the cash flows of the Authority).  In the latter case, where an asset is 
acquired via an exchange, the cost of the acquisition is the carrying amount of the 
asset given up by the Authority.  

Page 19



 
Donated assets are measured initially at fair value.  The difference between fair value 
and any consideration paid is credited to the Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income 
and Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, 
unless the donation has been made conditionally.  Until conditions are satisfied, the 
gain is held in the Donated Assets Account.  Where gains are credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out of the 
General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement.  
 
Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:  

 
 Infrastructure assets – modified form of depreciated historical cost with new 

expenditure added to the brought forward balance and depreciation deducted. 
The authority has determined in accordance with Regulation [30M England or 
24L Wales] of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England/Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2022 that the replaced parts are 
generally assumed to have been fully depreciated and their derecognition 
requires no adjustment to the carrying (or net) amount. In accordance with the 
temporary relief offered by the Update to the Code on infrastructure assets 
these financial statements do not include disclosure of gross cost and 
accumulated depreciation for infrastructure assets because historical reporting 
practices and resultant information deficits mean that this would not faithfully 
represent the asset position to the users of the financial statements. 

 Assets under construction – depreciated historical cost; 
 Surplus assets – the current value measurement base is fair value, estimated 

at highest and best use from a market participant’s perspective; and 
 All other assets – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid 

for the asset in its existing use (existing use value – EUV).  
 
Where there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist 
nature of an asset, depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of 
current value.  
 
Where non-property assets that have short useful lives or low values (or both), 
depreciated historical cost basis is used as a proxy for current value.  
 
Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly 
to ensure that their carrying amount is not materially different from their current value 
at the year-end, but as a minimum every five years.  Increases in valuations are 
matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains.  Gains 
might be credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services where they 
arise from the reversal of a loss previously charged to a service.  
 
Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by:  
 where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 

Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance 
(up to the amount of the accumulated gains)  

 where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient 
balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 

Page 20



The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 
only, the date of its formal implementation.  Gains arising before that date have been 
consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account.  
 
Impairment  
 
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an 
asset may be impaired.  Where indications exist and any possible differences are 
estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where 
this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for 
the shortfall.  
 
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by: 
 Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 

Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance 
(up to the amount of the accumulated gains); or 

 Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient 
balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 
Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the 
relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up 
to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been 
charged if the loss had not been recognised. 

 
Depreciation  
 
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the 
systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives.  An exception  
is made for assets without a determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land) and 
assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under construction).  
 
Depreciation on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets is calculated by allocating 
the asset value over the period expected to benefit from their use on a straight-line 
basis.  All assets are assessed individually in relation to their asset lives for the purpose 
of calculating depreciation.  Conditions relative to each asset are considered in arriving 
at this determination. 
 
Where an item of property, plant and equipment asset has major component whose 
cost is significant in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are 
depreciated separately. 
 
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference 
between current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would 
have been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each year from 
the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 
Disposal and Non- Current Assets Held for Sale 
 
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is 
reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale.  The asset is revalued immediately before 
reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair value less costs to 
sell.  Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is 
posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 

Page 21



Expenditure Statement.  Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of 
any previously losses recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services.  
Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale.  
 
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are 
reclassified back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount 
before they were classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or 
revaluations that would have been recognised had they not been classified as Held for 
Sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell.  
 
Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for 
Sale.  
 
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in 
the Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is 
written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  Receipts from disposals 
(if any) are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the 
carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal).  Any revaluation gains accumulated 
for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment 
Account.  
 
Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital 
receipts and can then only be used for new capital investment or set aside to reduce 
the Authority’s underlying need to borrow (the Capital Financing Requirement England 
and Wales).  Receipts are appropriated to the Capital Receipts Reserve from the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against the levy, as the cost of non-
current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing.  
Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund 
Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
 
Provisions  
 
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a legal 
or constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic 
benefits or service potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.  
 
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that the Authority 
becomes aware of the obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the balance 
sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into account 
relevant risks and uncertainties.  
 
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the 
Balance Sheet.  Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year 
– where it becomes less than probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be 
required (or a lower settlement than anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and 
credited back to the relevant service.  
 

Page 22



Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be 
recovered from another party (e.g. from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as 
income for the relevant service if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 
received if the Authority settles the obligation. 
 
Contingent Liabilities 
 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a 
possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 
otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Authority.  
Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be 
made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required or the 
amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.  Contingent liabilities are not 
recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts. 
 
Contingent Assets 
 
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a 
possible asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise 
of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Authority.  Contingent 
assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts 
where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service 
potential. 

 
Reserves 
 
The Authority sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to 
cover contingencies.  Reserves are shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the 
appropriate service in that year to score against the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, 
financial instruments, retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable 
resources for the Authority – these reserves are explained in the relevant policies. 
 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS) 
 
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions 
but that does not result in the creation of a non-current asset has been charged as 
expenditure to the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement in the year.  Where the Authority has determined to meet the cost of this 
expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund Balance to the Capital 
Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no impact 
on the level of levy. 

 
Value Added Tax (VAT) 
 
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable 
from Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs.  VAT receivable is excluded from income. 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title 

 
External Audit Update  
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

N/A 

Summary of report  Provide an update on progress with the Annual 
Audit of Accounts 
 

Is this report exempt? No  
 
 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

No 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

None 
 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
 

A Fairer City Region  X 

A Stronger City Region  X 

A Cleaner City Region  X 

A Connected City Region  X 

A Vibrant City Region 
 

X 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Risk and Mitigation No 
 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director Finance  
 

Appendices Yes appendix 1 audit progress report 
 

Background Documents No  
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



 
 

LCR Audit & Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday, 22 March 2023 
 

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

EXTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Members of the Committee with an 

update on the progress of the annual audit of the accounts conducted by the 
Authority’s external auditors, Mazars. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee note the contents of 

the report. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 To support the Committee in the discharge of its duties, this report provides a 

summary of Mazars progress against their audit plan and details of key national 
reports and publications. 

 
  
4. CONCLUSION 
 
4.1 The Authority’s external audit is now almost complete. Details of the progress made 

by the External Auditors, Mazars, is detailed in Appendix One. 
 
 

MAZARS  
External Auditors 

 
Appendices: 
 
1 Audit Progress Report 
 

Page 26



Audit Progress Report

P
age 27



2

1. Audit Progress
2. National publications

P
age 28



Section 01:
Audit Progress

P
age 29



4

Audit progress
Purpose of this report
This report provides the Audit and Governance Committee with an update on progress in delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors. It also includes, at Section 2, a summary of recent 
national reports and publications for your information..  

2020/21 audit
Our one remaining responsibility in respect of the 2020/21 financial year is a review of the Authority’s whole of government accounts (WGA) return.  We have received the NAO  group instructions 
and are currently waiting on confirmation of sample audits to be tested. Once the NAO has confirmed this, we will liaise with Officers to complete any work we are required to do. Following this, we 
will issue our Audit Certificate to formally close the 2020/21 audit.

2021/22 audit
Our initial planning work and early substantive testing for the 2021/22 audit was completed early in 2022. Following this we presented our Audit Strategy Memorandum to the July 2022 Audit and 
Governance Committee meeting, setting out the audit risks we identified in respect of the 2021/22 financial statements. There has been no change to our risk assessment since issuing our Audit 
Strategy Memorandum. 

We received the Authority’s draft Accounts and annual governance statement in July 2022, in line with the timetable agreed with Officers and the national timetable. We reported our findings from 
our audit to the November Audit and Governance Committee meeting with details of those items that remained outstanding. Most of this is now complete. However, we are still finalising our 
procedures in those areas detailed below: 

• infrastructure assets - Committee members will recall from our previous reports the ongoing accounting issue in relation to infrastructure assets. The value of LCRCA’s infrastructure 
assets in the draft accounts is £247m. In order to resolve the accounting issue, Government brought forward an optional temporary Statutory Override to allow Local Government bodies 
to prepare accounts that are materially correct. This Statutory Instrument took effect on 25 December 2022 and the supporting CIPFA guidance notes on its application were published 
in January 2023.  We are currently working with management to understand the impact on LCRCA’s accounts and to complete the required audit work as soon as possible.  Our 
Infrastructure Assets work at Merseytravel also remains in progress.

• Cashflow statement – we are awaiting answers to a small number of queries raised.

• Consolidation – we are awaiting LCRCA’s group boundary assessment.

We will issue a follow up letter to this Committee following the completion of the outstanding work. 

We plan to complete and report our Value for Money arrangements work within three months of the date of our audit opinion on the financial statements (in line with National Audit Office (NAO) 
guidance). 

P
age 30



Section 02:
National publications

P
age 31



6

National publications

Publication/update Key points

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountability (CIPFA)

1 Insourcing in the Public Sector: A Practical Guide (2022 
edition) Guidance for practitioners

2 CIPFA Bulletin 12 Accounting for Infrastructure Assets 
Temporary Solution

Covers the issues to be considered regarding the temporary solution for the accounting and reporting issues relating to infrastructure 
assets

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd

3 Directory of Auditor Appointments from 2023/24 Auditor appointments for PSAA opted-in bodies

4 Publication of the 2022/23 fee scale External audit fees for 2022/23

Department for Levelling up Housing and communities

5 Local Government Finance settlement Final local government finance settlement 2023-24

National Audit Office

6 Education recovery in schools in England The NAO has published its report on  Education recovery in schools in England 

P
age 32



7

NATIONAL PUBLICATIONS

CIPFA

1. Insourcing in the Public Sector: A Practical Guide (2022 edition), December 2022

The guide is an information source for public bodies to help widen their understanding of insourcing and support internal discussion on whether services should be brought back in-house and, if so, how they 
should be brought back in. In recent times, several outsourced arrangements have failed due to poor quality and unreliability of providers. It is important to note that while insourcing does not require a public 
body to run a full procurement process, it still needs to follow a process and undertake key steps (for example, TUPE and asset transfer) and is equally reliant on the public body having expert and skilled 
personnel to manage this.

This practical guide will support public sector practitioners in understanding key areas to focus on when considering insourcing as part of future delivery models.

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/i/insourcing-in-the-public-sector-a-practical-guide-2022-edition

2. CIPFA Bulletin 12 Accounting for Infrastructure Assets Temporary Solution, January 2023

The CIPFA Bulletin 12 – Accounting for Infrastructure Assets – Temporary Solution covers the issues to be considered regarding the temporary solution for the accounting and reporting issues relating to 
infrastructure assets.   

The objective of the bulletin is to provide guidance on the temporary solution for accounting for infrastructure assets, focussing on the reporting of the derecognition provisions where there is replacement 
expenditure and particularly for highways infrastructure assets

The temporary solution includes the Update to the Code and Specifications for Future Codes for Infrastructure Assets (Update to the Code) from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2025 which features a temporary 
relief not to report gross cost and accumulated depreciation for infrastructure assets and the statutory prescriptions from England and Wales and Scotland

The Bulletin also includes guidance on accounting for the pattern of consumption of economic benefits and service potential i.e. depreciation.

The Bulletin includes guidance on materiality, an overview of different elements of the temporary solution, the accounting requirements for derecognition including the statutory prescription, the impact on 
accounting policies and the reporting requirements for disclosure of gross cost and accumulated depreciation

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/cipfa-bulletins/cipfa-bulletin-12-accounting-for-infrastructure-assets-temporary-solution

P
age 33

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/i/insourcing-in-the-public-sector-a-practical-guide-2022-edition
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/cipfa-bulletins/cipfa-bulletin-12-accounting-for-infrastructure-assets-temporary-solution


8

NATIONAL PUBLICATIONS
Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd

3. Directory of Auditor Appointments from 2023/24, January 2023

PSAA has published its Directory of Auditor Appointments from 2023/24 following the completion of the 2022 procurement. The PSAA Board agreed the appointments at its meeting on 16 December 2022. 
Mazars will continue as the Council’s external auditor from 2023/24.

https://www.psaa.co.uk/2023/01/directory-of-auditor-appointments-from-2023-24/

4. Publication of the 2022/23 fee scale, November 2022

PSAA has published the 2022/23 audit fee scale following consultation. Information on the fee scale and consultation is available. Most audit work under this fee scale will be undertaken from April 2023 
onwards. The Council’s scale fee for 2022/23 is £82,498.

The 2022/23 fee scale is the last in the current appointing period which is under the 2017 audit contracts. New contracts will apply from the 2023/24 audit following a procurement during 2022. PSAA intend to 
consult on the fee scale for the 2023/24 audit in early autumn 2023.

https://www.psaa.co.uk/2022/11/news-release-publication-of-the-2022-23-fee-scale/

Department for Levelling up Housing and communities
5. Local Government Finance Settlement

The final local government finance settlement 2023-24 was announced on 6th February.

Final local government finance settlement: England, 2023 to 2024 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

National Audit Office
6. NAO report - Education recovery in schools in England 

The NAO has published its report Education recovery in schools in England that examines whether the Department for Education (DfE) is achieving its objective to help pupils recover lost learning by 
effectively supporting education recovery in schools following the COVID-19 pandemic. 

https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/education-recovery-in-schools-in-england/#downloads

P
age 34

https://www.psaa.co.uk/2023/01/directory-of-auditor-appointments-from-2023-24/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/2022/11/news-release-publication-of-the-2022-23-fee-scale/
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/final-local-government-finance-settlement-england-2023-to-2024
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/education-recovery-in-schools-in-england/#downloads


Mazars

Mazars is an internationally integrated partnership, specialising in audit, accountancy, advisory, tax 
and legal services*. Operating in over 90 countries and territories around the world, we draw on the 
expertise of 40,400 professionals – 24,400 in Mazars’ integrated partnership and 16,000 via the 
Mazars North America Alliance – to assist clients of all sizes at every stage in their development.

*where permitted under applicable country laws.

www.mazars.com

Director: Mark Dalton

Email:  mark.dalton@mazars.co.uk

LinkedIn:
www.linkedin.com/company/Mazars
Twitter:
www.twitter.com/MazarsGroup
Facebook:
www.facebook.com/MazarsGroup
Instagram:
www.instagram.com/MazarsGroup
WeChat:
ID: Mazars

Contact Follow us:

Audit Manager: Dawn Watson

Email:  dawn.watson@mazars.co.uk

P
age 35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title 

 
Internal Audit Update 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Policy, Reform and Resources 
 

Summary of report  Overview of the internal audit work completed in 
the fourth quarter of 2022/23 
 

Is this report exempt?  No  
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 
Financial impact 
 

No                    

Dispensation of decision sought and 
details of approval  

 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
Tick which ones are appropriate  

A Fairer City Region   
A Stronger City Region   
A Cleaner City Region   
A Connected City Region   
A Vibrant City Region 
 

 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 
Risk and Mitigation                                    
 

No  
 
Yes (see paragraph 4) 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit 
laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
 

Appendices Yes - Appendix 1 Internal Audit Update  
Background Documents No 

 
Page 37

Agenda Item 6

mailto:laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Audit and Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday 22 March 2023 
 

Report of the Head of Internal Audit 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Combined Authority Audit and 

Governance Committee with an overview of the internal audit work completed in the 
fourth quarter of 2022-23, in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 
 

(a)  notes the report. 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 To support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms of 

Reference, the report details the work undertaken by the Internal Audit service in 
respect of the Combined Authority and Merseytravel in the fourth quarter of 2022-
23.  The report highlights the following key points: 
 

 A summary of Internal Audit Plan delivery for the period; 
 

 Details of work undertaken, recommendations made, and key items of note; 
 

 Update on the implementation of recommendations; 
 

 A summary of the work undertaken in respect of fraud, bribery and corruption; 
 

 An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key performance 
indicators detailed in the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
(QAIP); and 

 

 An update on the service’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS). 

 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Risks and Mitigation 
 

It is the responsibility of the Combined Authority to establish effective arrangements 
for the management of risk.  Internal Audit reports highlight weaknesses which pose 
a risk to the achievement of the organisation’s objectives and the according 
recommendations assist in mitigating such risks.  Internal Audit work is one strand Page 38



of assurance regarding the effectiveness of the system of internal control and this 
can be utilised to inform the Combined Authority’s view of organisational risk and its 
management. 

 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 Internal Audit has made positive progress in the period of this report to deliver the 

Internal Audit Plan 2022-23.  This report demonstrates how the provision of 
available Internal Audit resource has been utilised to provide appropriate assurance 
to the organisation. 

 
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 
                         

 

 

 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE 
 

 

Audit and Governance Committee 

22 March 2023 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 

 Head of Internal Audit 

 

P
age 41



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 1 
  

Contents 
 

       Page 
 

1. Introduction             2 
 

2. Summary of Internal Audit Plan Delivery         3 
 

3. Core Audit              4 
 

4. Responsive Audit            7 
 

5. Implementation of Recommendations        11 
 

6. Fraud, Bribery and Corruption         15 
 

7. Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme                18 
 

8. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards                  20 
 

 
Appendices 

 
A - Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 Status Update                 21 
 
B - Internal Audit Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority Levels            22   

   
       

P
age 42



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 2 
  

1.  Introduction 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of Internal Audit work completed in the fourth quarter of 2022-23, in respect 

of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23.   
 
1.2 The report is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee to facilitate the discharge of obligations as defined in its Terms 

of Reference, to highlight the outcomes of Internal Audit work as a source of assurance on the effectiveness of the 
organisation’s governance, risk, and internal control environment.   

 
1.3 Internal Audit is defined by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (2017) as: “an independent, objective assurance and 

consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its 
objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, 
control, and governance processes”. 

 
1.4 The mission of Internal Audit is: “to enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective 

assurance, advice and insight”. 
 
1.5 This report includes: 
 

 A summary of Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 delivery for the period; 

 Details of work undertaken, recommendations made, and key items of note; 

 Update on the implementation of recommendations made previously; 

 A summary of the work undertaken in respect of fraud, bribery, and corruption; 

 An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key performance indicators detailed in the Quality 
Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP); and 

 An update on the service’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).  

P
age 43



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 3 
  

2.  Summary of Internal Audit Plan Delivery 
 
2.1 Audits Completed  

  
2.1.1 In the period since the last Internal Audit Update, five audits were completed. These are shown in Table 1: 
  

Audit Title Organisational Risk 
Opinion 

Entity 

Combined 
Authority  

 

Merseytravel 

Business Continuity Management Minor X  

Application Control – Comments Management Minor X  

Housing Programmes – Green Homes LAD Phase 2 Moderate X  

Know Your Customer Moderate X  

LEP Governance – Annual Review Minor X  
                                                            Table 1 

 
2.1.2 Appendix A gives a detailed breakdown of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23, showing the status of each item of audit work that 

was contained within the Plan approved by the Committee at its meeting on 30 March 2022 and Merseytravel at its meeting 
on 19 April 2022.  

                                                                                                                                                    

P
age 44



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 4 
  

3.  Core Audit 
 
3.1 Background 
  
3.1.1 The “core audit” element of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 relates to areas of audit work that are either statutory 

requirements, requirements of government or are areas of key risk.  Coverage of these areas is considered essential to 
delivering a comprehensive assurance on the effectiveness of internal control, governance, and risk management.   

 
3.2 Work Completed 
 
3.2.1 Two audits were completed in the period: 
 

 Business Continuity Management; and 

 Application Control – Comments Management. 
 

3.3 Organisational Risk Opinion  

3.3.1 The audits of Business Continuity Management and Application Control Comments Management both received an 
organisational risk opinion of “Minor”, which means that a satisfactory level of assurance on the effectiveness of the internal 
controls reviewed can be derived, and that the risk presented to the organisation by the recommendations made is at a low 
level.  

 
3.4 Work in Progress 
 
3.4.1 The following items of work are in progress: 
 

 Merseytravel: 

 Capital Project - Kingsway Tunnel Drainage Pipework; 

 The Beatles Story - Payroll; 

 Rolling Stock - IPEMU Testing; and 

P
age 45



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 5 
  

 The Beatles Story - Business Continuity Management. 
 

 Combined Authority (including corporate): 

 Creditors and Cheque Control; 

 Programme / Project Assurance - Delivery Boards; 

 Payroll; 

 Annual Governance Statement Review; 

 Investment Schemes; and  

 LEP - Grant Claims Submission. 
 
3.5 Recommendations of Note  
 
3.5.1 The core audits finalised within the period identified two recommendations classed as “high priority”. These are shown in 

Table 2: 

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

Business Continuity Management It should be ensured that an up-to-date BIA 
Schedule, and if required, accompanying BIA Form 
is available for each service area.  These 
documents should only be saved in one location 
within OnePlace (or via a SharePoint site), with the 
same document also saved to Resilience Direct. 
 
The BIA Form template should be made available 
via OnePlace and within the document it should be 
requested to state by whom and when the form was 
completed.   
 

 The Assistant Director for Customer Delivery will 
co-ordinate all service areas to review and update 
Business Continuity Management plans at least 
once every 6 months and highlight any areas of 
non-compliance. 

Business Continuity Management A definitive list should be established of service 
areas for which a BCM Plan is required; liaising with 
and documenting relevant contact names. 
 

Recommendation has been implemented. 
Documentation added to corporate intranet 

                                                          Table 2 

P
age 46



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 6 
  

 
3.5.2 Improvement in those areas highlighted for attention will be monitored by Internal Audit as part of the follow-up process and 

reported to the Executive Leadership Team and this Committee.  
 
3.6 Delivery Challenges 
 
3.6.1 Due to a long-term sickness absence in the audit team, the Internal Audit Plan has been reviewed and work has been 

reallocated across the team on a risk basis.  This has contributed to the large amount of work in progress, and the team is 
working hard to complete this work by the end of the financial year. The following audits have not been commenced and 
therefore will be deferred to 2023-24 and will be prioritised for delivery in quarter 1: 
 

 Risk Management; 

 Financial Sustainability of Contractors; and 

 Transport Operators.  

P
age 47



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 7 
  

4.  Responsive Audit 
 
4.1 Background 
  
4.1.1 The “responsive audit” element of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 relates to work to be conducted in response to identified 

areas of significant risk to the organisation. So as to ensure that Internal Audit work is relevant and risk-based, meaning that 
this element of the Plan is not prescribed in advance (other than broad themes), but is developed as the result of ongoing 
consultation and engagement with senior management so as to ensure it adds the value that is required and provides 
assurance on the key areas of risk. 

 
4.2 Work Completed 
 
4.2.1 Two audits were completed in the period: 

 

 Combined Authority (including Corporate): 

 Housing Programmes – Green Homes LAD Phase 2; and 

 Supply Chain - Know Your Customer. 
 
4.3 Organisational Risk Opinion  

4.3.1 The audits of Housing Programmes – Green Homes LAD Phase 2 and Supply Chain - Know Your Customer each received 
an organisational risk opinion of “moderate”, and this indicates that the audits identified weaknesses that present a moderate 
risk to the organisation, and that the risks identified should be considered for inclusion within service risk registers (if these 
have not already been included). The key risks arising from the audits are as follows: 

 
 Housing Programmes - Green Homes LAD Phase 2 - While recognising that regular meetings took place with the Contract 

Administrator; insufficient detail was provided with invoicing to support the hours worked on the project to establish that the 
actual amount/type of properties and/or amount/type of works checked was sufficient and compliant with the contract. A 
quality assurance system had not been established to provide confirmation that the contractor was fulfilling contractual 
obligations correctly. 

P
age 48



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 8 
  

 
 

Supply Chain - Know Your Customer – Whilst there are some arrangements in place in relevant areas of the Combined 
Authority to undertake an appropriate level of due diligence on those the organisation does business with to identify any 
associated risks, there is scope for improvement by setting out required checks and any associated actions clearly in 
procedure notes, in particular in relation to applicants for investment funding.  
 

4.4 Recommendations of Note  
 
4.4.1 The responsive audits finalised within the period identified three recommendations classed as “high priority”. These are 

shown in Table 3: 

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

Housing Programmes – Green 
Homes LAD Phase 2 

The contract administrator should on a regular basis provide more 
documented detail on they work they carry out. For example, on 
LAD2 Arcus should have been requested to provide a regular report 
on the properties they visited, the works they inspected and the 
outcome of the inspection. 
 

The contract administrator has 
been asked to provide information 
with their invoices on the work they 
carry out. This is being done 
through screen shots of their 
system on each property visited. A 
running total of hours is also 
included in invoices now. In 
addition, there is a running snag list 
which is shared so CA can see 
snags and when resolved. All the 
work continues to be discussed at a 
weekly meeting.  
 

Housing Programmes – Green 
Homes LAD Phase 2 

A system of quality assurance of files should be put in place to 
ensure that property files contain all of the required documentation. 
This quality assurance check should include a check on the 
eligibility of the applicant based on the evidence obtained. The CA 
team should satisfy themselves on a regular basis that property files 
contain all of the required documentation. 
 

Additional resource from MPD team 
was secured on 1st February 2023 
with the first task of assessing the 
required documentation to check 
eligibility of residents. A random 
selection of 100 properties was 
examined and a report on the 
issues found has been completed 

P
age 49



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 9 
  

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

and shared with contractors. A 
further check will be carried out to 
ensure that issues identified have 
been rectified. The extension to the 
Sustainable Warmth Fund scheme 
means that this will be required to 
be done again before the 
programme closes to continue to 
improve quality of data.  
 

Supply Chain - Know Your Customer In order to ensure KYC checks on applicants for investment are 
completed correctly and in a consistent manner, the Investment 
Team should set out in a procedure note: 
 

 when and what checks are required for the different types of 
organisations that may apply; 

 what supporting evidence can be accepted, as set out in the 
outline schedule; and, 

 what is acceptable as supporting evidence, including who can 
certify evidence provided. 

 

A standardised approach to the 
KYC process will be documented 
and implemented. 
 

                                                          Table 3 

 
4.5 Work in Progress 
 
4.5.1 Table 4 below shows the following items of work that are in progress: 
 

Audit Title Entity Rationale for Completion Risk Register Linkages 

Governance 
Arrangements - 
Modern.Gov Reports 
 

Combined 
Authority 

Considered as part of the Corporate 
Governance theme. Works considers the 
administration of committee reports through the 
Modern.Gov system. 
 

Corporate Risk 1: Accountability  
There is risk that the Combined Authority 
does not develop and maintain sufficient 
capacity to deliver its obligations and 
responsibilities. 
 

P
age 50



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 10 
  

Audit Title Entity Rationale for Completion Risk Register Linkages 

Use of Consultants Combined 
Authority 

Considered as part of the Programme, Project 
Contract Management theme.  Work considers 
the procurement and use of consultants to 
ensure compliance with the Constitution, 
legislation and relevant guidance. 
 

Corporate Risk 6: Financial Sustainability  
There is a risk that financial pressures will 
impact negatively on the financial 
sustainability of the Combined Authority. 
 

T-Flow and Fast Tag 
Account Management 

Merseytravel Considered as part of Operations and Systems 
theme. Work considers the administration of the 
pre-paid tolls systems to ensure collection of 
payments are handled in accordance with the 
organisation’s policies and procedures,  
 
 

Corporate Risk 6: Financial Sustainability  
There is a risk that financial pressures will 
impact negatively on the financial 
sustainability of the Combined Authority. 
 

                                                          Table 4 

 
4.6 Advice, Guidance and Consultancy 

 

4.6.1 During the period, the service has provided advice and guidance in a number of areas: 

 Attending Delivery Boards to advise on audit and risk matters, and to contribute to the Boards’ ongoing development; 

 Continued involvement in providing advice on major projects, including bus reform, rolling stock; and capital schemes; 

 Contributing to the development of new schemes such as the UK Shared Prosperity Fund, by providing input on the role 

of Internal Audit in this area. 

 Providing assistance and advice in respect of Department for Energy Security and Net Zero’s review of Counter Fraud 

measures on the Housing Retrofit Local Authority Delivery and Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund schemes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 51



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 11 
  

5.  Implementation of Recommendations 
 
5.1 Background 
 
5.1.1 The implementation of recommendations is subject to ongoing monitoring and where dates of agreed action have passed 

and confirmation of implementation has not been received, Internal Audit contacts managers to establish progress, confirm 
actions completed or agree revised implementation dates, if appropriate. 

 

5.1.2 Significant work continues to be undertaken with members of the Senior and Executive Leadership Teams to encourage 
completion of outstanding recommendations, particularly those that are long-standing.  This includes attendance at 
management team meetings and provision of reports detailing recommendations outstanding.  This has generated positive 
engagement and action on progressing the issues, and consequently a number of recommendations have been closed 
during the period. Work continues with managers to encourage the timely implementation of recommendations, with 
particular attention being paid to older recommendations. 

 
5.2 Combined Authority 

 

5.2.1 Table 5 below provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in 

respect of Combined Authority specific systems: 

 

P
age 52



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 12 
  

 
                        Table 5 

Year Department Auditable Area High Medium Completed In Progress

Overdue based on 

original 

implementation date

More than 2 

months overdue
High Overdue Notes

Corporate Development & Delivery

2021-22 Organisational Development Ethics / Standards of Conduct 0 2 0 2 2 2 n/a Revised implementation dates provided

2021-22 Organisational Development Learning & Development 2 4 0 6 6 6 2 Revised implementation dates provided

2022-23 HR - Strategy & Systems Gifts, Hospitality & Declarations of Interest 7 4 10 1 1 0 1 Revised implementation date provided

2021-22 HR - Strategy & Systems Absence Management 0 7 4 3 3 3 n/a Revised implementation dates provided

2020-21 HR - Operations Payroll 0 5 5 1 1 1 n/a Audit are supporting HR to implement this Rec

2019-20 HR - Strategy & Systems Procurement Cards 1 5 5 1 1 1 1 Revised implementation date provided

2019-20 HR - Operations Recruitment and Selection 2 10 8 4 4 4 1 Revised implementation dates provided

2018-19 HR - Strategy & Systems Travel, Accommodation & Expenses 0 3 2 1 1 1 n/a Revised implementation date has passed 

2021-22 IT - Service Delivery Backup Management 0 6 0 3 0 0 n/a

2021-22 IT - Service Delivery Cyber Security Response 1 3 2 2 0 0 0

2021-22 IT - Service Delivery IT - Asset Management 0 7 3 4 0 0 n/a

2019-20 IT - Service Delivery IT - Service Continuity 0 11 9 2 2 2 n/a Revised implementation dates provided

Corporate Services

2022-23 Accountancy VAT 1 4 5 0 0 0 0 Revised implementation dates provided

2022-23 Accountancy Treasury Management 1 2 2 1 1 0 0 Rec partially implemented. One item to be confirmed

2021-22 Accountancy Creditors 0 3 2 1 0 0 n/a

2022-23 Freeport Freeport 1 1 0 2 2 0 0 Awaiting revised implementation dates

2022-23 Legal Know Your Customer 0 2 1 1 0 0 0

2022-23 Legal Use of Personal e-mail Addresses 3 0 0 3 1 0 1 Awaiting revised implementation date

2021-22 Procurement Procurement 0 7 4 3 3 3 n/a Revised implementation dates provided

2019-20 Procurement Commissioning 2 2 1 3 3 3 2 Awaiting revised implementation dates

2019-20 Procurement Procurement 0 1 0 1 1 1 n/a Awaiting revised implementation date

2017-18 Procurement Procurement 0 8 8 1 1 1 n/a Revised implementation date provided

Investment & Delivery

2022-23 Programme Delivery Housing Programmes - Green Homes LAD Phase 2 2 9 0 11 0 0 0

2022-23 Investment Know Your Customer 1 2 0 3 0 0 0

2021-22 ESIF ESIF - Ways To Work 1 3 0 4 0 0 0

2021-22 Investment Future Innovation Fund - Tranche 2 1 3 0 4 0 0 0

2021-22 Investment SIF2 Assurance Framework 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 Awaiting revised implementation date

2021-22 Investment Investment Models 0 3 2 1 1 1 n/a Revised implementation date provided

2021-22 Programme Delivery Race Equality 0 7 6 1 1 1 n/a Revised implementation dates provided

2020-21 PMO Pre Payment Assurance 0 3 2 1 1 1 n/a Revised implementation date provided

Place

2022-23 Customer Delivery Business Continuity Management 2 3 5 0 0 0 0

Policy Strategy & Government Relations

2022-23 Evidence, Research & Intelligence Application Control - Comments Management 0 3 3 0 0 0 n/a

2022-23 Evidence, Research & Intelligence Data Quality 3 1 0 4 1 0 0 Awaiting revised implementation date

2022-23 Policy Co-ordiantion Environment, Energy and Net Zero 0 3 1 2 1 0 n/a Revised implementation date provided

2022-23 Evidence, Research & Intelligence Monitoring & Evaluation Indicator Framework 5 1 0 6 6 6 5 Revised implementation dates provided

Other

2022-23 LEP LEP Governance Annual Review 22-23 0 2 0 2 0 0 n/a

2021-22 LEP LEP Governance Annual Review 21-22 1 1 0 2 1 0 1 Awaiting revised implementation date

Recommendations

P
age 53



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 13 
  

5.2.2 There are fifteen outstanding recommendations relating to audits prior to 2021-22 and Internal Audit awaits revised dates for 
four further to discussions with auditees.  

 
5.2.3 Two recommendations remain open from reports issued prior to 2019-20 (Travel, Accommodation and Expenses 2018-19 

and Procurement 2017-18).  Both relate to the need to update organisational policies. It was previously reported that 
implementation was expected by the end of September 2022 in both cases, but neither of the documents have yet been 
updated. 

 
5.2.4 The importance of setting achievable implementation dates for recommendation dates is emphasised by the internal audit 

team in their work, but it is equally important that managers focus on meeting the set timescales and do not seek to extend 
these unnecessarily. 

 
5.3 Merseytravel 

 
5.3.1 Table 6 below provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in 

respect of Merseytravel specific systems:  
 

 
                         Table 6 

Year Department Auditable Area High Medium Completed In Progress

Overdue based on 

original 

implementation date

More than 2 

months overdue
High Overdue Notes

Place

2021-22 AM - Maintenance Delivery Health, Safety & Wellbeing 3 6 8 1 1 1 0 Awaiting revised implementation date

2021-22 AM - Maintenance Delivery Application Control - SCADA Control 0 6 2 4 4 1 n/a Revised implementation dates provided

2021-22 AM - Technical Services Seacombe Ferry Landing Stage - Capital Project 3 4 6 1 1 1 0 Revised implementation date provided

2022-23 Bus - Hubs Anti-Money Laundering 0 2 1 1 0 0 n/a

2022-23 Bus - Hubs PCI DSS Compliance 0 3 2 1 1 0 n/a Awaiting revised implementation date

2022-23 Bus - Bus Development Bus Reform 2 0 2 0 0 0 0

2019-20 Bus - Network Performance Bus Services - Contract Management 0 4 3 1 1 1 n/a Revised implementation date provided

2022-23 Customer Delivery Anti-Money Laundering 0 2 2 0 0 0 n/a

2022-23 Customer Delivery PCI DSS Compliance 0 3 1 2 0 0 n/a

2022-23 Customer Delivery Application Control - Docustore 1 5 4 2 0 0 0

2019-20 Customer Delivery Ancillary Income and Debt Recovery 3 2 5 0 0 0 0

2021-22 Customer Operations (Ferries) Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions 2 4 5 1 1 1 0 Awaiting revised implementation dates

2020-21 Police Operations (Tunnels) CCTV 1 8 9 0 0 0 0

2022-23 The Beatles Story Payroll Fraud 4 5 2 7 0 0 0

2021-22 The Beatles Story Information Governance 1 10 3 8 8 2 0 Awaiting revised implementation dates

Recommendations

P
age 54



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 14 
  

 
5.3.2 There is one outstanding recommendation relating to audits prior to 2021-22 – Bus Services Contract Management (revised 

implementation date provided). It is imperative that implementation is achieved within the revised timescale. 
 
  

P
age 55



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 15 
  

6.  Fraud, Bribery and Corruption  
 
6.1 CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (2014) 
 
6.1.1 The CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption is the key guidance document for the sector on 

managing fraud risk. 
 
6.1.2 Table 7 below gives an update on the progress being made to address the action arising from the self-assessment: 
 

Ref Action Responsibility Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

1 All risk owners must assess the fraud 
risks associated with the service or 
project they manage and formulate 
proportionate responses to these 
risks.   
This will facilitate the escalation of 
significant fraud risks where 
necessary. 
 

Risk Owners March 2023 The Head of Internal Audit discussed fraud with the 
leadership teams on a number of occasions during 
2021-22 and 2022-23, and this continues as a 
regular event. 
Examples include fraud awareness updates delivered 
to SLT meetings, issue of updates regarding take-up 
of fraud awareness e-learning, and the inclusion of 
fraud risks on risk registers for consideration by all 
Heads of Service/Assistant Directors. 
Fraud risk awareness sessions were held during 
November 2022, to coincide with a programme of 
activities during International Fraud Awareness 
Week.  
Work with risk owners continues to encourage the 
completion of the fraud risks and the Head of Internal 
Audit continues to raise awareness. 

                                           Table 7 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 56



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 16 
  

6.2 Proactive Counter Fraud Work 
 

6.2.1 The Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 includes 30 days for proactive counter-fraud work across both Merseytravel and the 
Combined Authority.  It is also of note that key anti-fraud controls are also evaluated as part of a significant number of other 
audits within the Plan such as Creditors, Payroll and Gifts, Hospitality and Declarations of Interest.   

 
6.2.2 The Plan includes the following areas of focus shown in Table 8:  
 

Audit Title Days Allocated Progress 

Recruitment and Selection 15 Draft report issued 

Rail Operators - Stock Control 15 Draft report issued 
                               Table 8 

6.3 Fraud Risks 
 

6.3.1 Members of the Senior Leadership Team have been reminded to review the fraud risks contained within their Service Risk 
Registers.  This is with the objective of updating of reflecting new and emerging fraud risks, and to ensure that they have 
acknowledged such risks in their planning and maintenance of internal controls.   

  
6.4 National Fraud Initiative (NFI) 
 
6.4.1 The organisation will be participating in the National Fraud Initiative 2022 co-ordinated by the Cabinet Office.  Data from the 

Payroll, Creditors and concessionary travel systems were uploaded to the dedicated Cabinet Office website in October and 
will be matched with data within and between participating bodies so as to identify potential frauds, overpayments, and 
errors. The results were received in January and investigation of matches is underway. The results of this work, including any 
frauds that are detected as a result, will be reported to this Committee once the work is concluded. The results of these 
matches are also fed into a national report at the end of each cycle.  

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 57



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 17 
  

6.5 Reactive Audit Work  
 
6.5.1 There is also a provision of 58 days in the Plan for reactive work such as the investigation of allegations of fraud or 

irregularity. The piece of work conducted at The Beatles Story on Payroll was extended to cover the review of a payroll 
change of bank details fraud perpetrated externally. 

 
6.6 Fraud Protocol Framework  
 
6.6.1 All fraud protocols within the Protocol Framework are up to date, having been approved by the Audit and Governance 

Committee at its meetings on 30 November 2022 and 25 January 2023. 
 

  P
age 58



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 18 
  

7.  Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
 
7.1 Performance Update 
 
7.1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require that the service maintains a Quality Assurance and Improvement 

Programme (QAIP) which includes a series of performance measures and associated targets.  
 
7.1.2 Performance measures defined in the QAIP are also included within the Internal Audit Service Plan and are thus reported to 

senior management in accordance with the corporate quarterly performance reporting process.  This provides senior 
management oversight and scrutiny of performance and of any remedial actions required to meet identified targets.  

  
7.1.3 Table 9 below details the performance measures and the results for the period: 
 

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS) 
This measures the extent to which the Internal Audit 
Service complies with the requirements set out in the 
Standards and the Local Government Application Note. 

100% 100% No variance 
The result of the external assessment (August 2021) details 
that the service fully complies with the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards.  The annual internal self-
assessment has also been completed and this confirms 
continued compliance (see s8 of this report). 

Percentage of recommendations implemented within 
a reasonable timescale 
This measures the extent to which managers feel that the 
recommendations made are appropriate and valuable in 
strengthening the control environment and also provides 
the Committee with a view on how effective management 
action is in responding to recommendations. 

100% 100% No variance 
There are no concerns in respect of recommendations made 
in 2021-22 and 2022-23 to date. 

Percentage of client survey responses indicating a 
"very good" or "good" opinion 
This measures the feedback received on the service 
provided and seeks to provide assurance that Internal 
Auditors conduct their duties in a professional manner. 

100% 100% No variance 
Feedback positive and response levels have improved 
noticeably in 2022-23. 

P
age 59



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 19 
  

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

Percentage of annual senior management survey 
responses indicating satisfaction with the Internal 
Audit service provided 
This measures the feedback received from Directors and 
Heads of Service on the service provided and seeks to 
provide assurance that Internal Audit is adding value at a 
strategic level. 

100% N/A Not applicable 
The annual survey is undertaken at the end of Q4, and is 
due to be sent to Executive Directors, Assistant Directors 
and Heads of Service on 31 March 2023. 
 

       Table 9                                          

 
7.2 Resources 
 
7.2.1 The service has one vacancy which it is hoping to fill in time for quarter 1 of 2023-24.  This is being advertised as a trainee 

post in order to assist with addressing the issues with Internal Audit recruitment identified in the CIPFA “Internal Audit – 
Untapped Potential” report that was highlighted to the Committee at its meeting in July 2022.  

 
7.2.2 At the time of writing, the service has lost 40 days in quarter 4 to sickness, due to the absence of one member of staff. This 

has meant that the Plan has had to be readjusted, so as to ensure coverage of the Plan to be able to provide an annual 
opinion.   

  

P
age 60



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 20 
  

8. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 

 
8.1 External Assessment 

 
8.1.1 It is a requirement of the PSIAS that the service must be subject to an external assessment of its compliance with the 

Standards every five years.  The service was subject to such an external assessment (peer review validation of self-
assessment) against the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) in August 2021.  

 
8.1.2 The outcome of this assessment was that the service fully conforms to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, and it 

was reported to the September 2022 meeting of this Committee that implementation of the recommendations is completed.   
 

8.2 Internal Self–Assessment 

8.2.1 In accordance with the Standards, an annual self-assessment must be completed to assess the compliance of the service 
with the Standards, so as to assess the impact of any changes to working practices, or indeed any changes to the Standards 
themselves.  

 
8.2.2 The Standards have not changed since the external assessment was carried out in August 2021 (although a review of the 

Standards is underway, and a consultation will commence shortly).  The self-assessment has been updated however, to 
reflect the revised arrangements arising from the recent removal of the Audit, Risk and Governance Board from Merseytravel. 

 
8.2.3 The results of the self- assessment were that the service is assessed as continuing to be compliant with the Standards.   

P
age 61



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 21 
  

Appendix A: Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 Status Update 
 

  

Auditable Area LCRCA Merseytravel
Organisational Risk 

Opinion
Status

CORE

IT Application Control - Docustore Y Minor Completed

IT Application Control - In-Form Y Minor Completed

IT Application Control - Comments Management Y Minor Completed

Business Continuity Management Y Completed

Staffing & Capacity Y Considered in CRSTS Audit

Payroll Y Commenced

Key Financial Systems - VAT Y Minor Completed

Key Financial Systems - Treasury Management Y Minor Completed

Key Financial Systems - Creditors Y Commenced

Annual Governance Review Y Commenced

Risk Management Y Deferred to 2023/24

Environment, Energy and Net Zero Y Minor Completed

Procurement Y n/a Considered in audits where applicable

Data Quality Y Moderate Completed

Programme / Project Assurance - Delivery Boards Y Draft Report Issued

Financial Sustainability Y Deferred to 2023/24

City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement Y Negligible Completed

Investment Schemes / Assurance Frameworks Y Commenced

Capital Schemes - Kingsway Tunnel Drainage Pipework Y Draft Report Issued

Rolling Stock Y Commenced

Transport Operators Y Deferred to 2023/24

IT 3
rd Party DR Solutions Y Commenced

IT Hybrid Working Y Commenced

IT Network Resilience Y Commenced

RESPONSIVE

Bus Reform Y Moderate Completed

Corporate Governance - Gifts, Hospitality & Declarations of Interest Y Moderate Completed

Grant Assurance Y n/a Ongoing

Programme / Project / Contract Management - Freeport Y Moderate Completed

Supply Chain Management - Know Your Customer Y Completed

Monitoring & Evaluation Indicator Framework Y n/a Completed

PCI DSS Compliance Y Minor Completed

Money Laundering Y Moderate Completed

Housing Programmes - Green Homes LAD Phase 2 Y Moderate Completed

Adult Education Budget Y Minor Completed

Use of Personal e-mails Y Moderate Completed

Governance Arrangements - Modern.Gov Reports Y Commenced

Use of Consultants Y Commenced

COUNTER FRAUD

Recruitment and Selection Y Draft Report Issued

Rail Operators - Stock Control Y Draft Report Issued

Fast Tag / T Flow Account Management Y Draft Report issued

LEP

LEP - Governance Annual Review Y Completed

LEP - Grant Claim Submission Y Commenced

BEATLES STORY

Beatles Story - Payroll Y Commenced

Beatles Story - Business Continuity Management Y Commenced

Entity

P
age 62



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 22 
  

Appendix B: Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority 
Levels 

 

Organisational Risk Opinions 
 

Recommendation Priority Levels 

 

Major 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a major impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Moderate 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a moderate impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Minor 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a minor impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Negligible 
No risks were identified within the review. 
  

 

 

High 
The recommendation is essential to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Medium  
The recommendation is important to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Advisory  
The recommendation is a suggestion intended to enhance 
the existing management of risk within the area under 
review. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title 

 
Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 
Resources 
 

Summary of decision being sought  Approval of the Internal Audit Plan and Charter 
2023-24 
 

Is this report exempt?  No  
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 
Financial impact 
 

No                    

Dispensation of decision sought and 
details of approval  

 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
Tick which ones are appropriate  

A Fairer City Region   
A Stronger City Region   
A Cleaner City Region   
A Connected City Region   
A Vibrant City Region 
 

 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 
Risk and Mitigation 
 

No  
 
Yes (See paragraph 4) 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit 
laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
 

Appendices Yes  
Appendix 1 Internal Audit Plan and Charter 

Page 65

Agenda Item 7

mailto:laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


2023/2024 
Appendix 2 Internal Audit Plan 2023/2024 
Appendix 3 Assurance Map 
Appendix 4 Internal Audit Charter 2023/2024 
 

Background Documents No 

  

Page 66



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Audit and Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday 22 March 2023 
 

Report of the Head of Internal Audit 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN AND CHARTER 2023-24 
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Audit and Governance Committee with 

the Internal Audit Plan of work and Internal Audit Charter for 2023-24. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 
 

(a)  approves the Internal Audit Plan 2023-24 attached as Appendix 2; and 
 

(b)  approves the Internal Audit Charter 2023-24 attached as Appendix 4. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 To support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms of 

Reference, the report details and seeks approval for the proposed plan of internal 
audit work in respect of the Combined Authority and Merseytravel for 2023-24. The 
report explains the detailed process of compilation of the Plan, using a risk-based 
approach, and highlights the key areas for consideration.   

 
3.2 The report also provides the Internal Audit Charter for 2023-24 for the approval of 

the Committee.  This document sets out the role, purpose and authority of Internal 
Audit, and highlights the ethical framework within which internal auditors work. 

 
3.3 Both documents are key requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 
 
3.4 It is worthy of note that both documents will also be presented to the Merseytravel 

Board for approval. 
 

 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Risks and Mitigation 
 
4.1.1 It is the responsibility of the organisation to establish effective arrangements for the 

management of risk.  The Internal Audit Plan has been produced using a risk-based 
approach which facilitates targeting resource to those organisational areas of 
greatest risk and allows for flexibility to react to and reflect the organisation’s 
changing risk profile during the year. 

Page 67



 
4.1.2 Internal audit work is one strand of assurance regarding the effectiveness of the 

system of internal control and this can be utilised to inform the view of 
organisational risk and its management. 

 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 Internal Audit has produced a plan of work for the 2023-24 financial year, which 

concentrates on areas of most significant organisational risk, so as to contribute to 
the maintenance of an effective internal control environment and management of 
risk. 

 
5.2 Internal Audit has also produced an Internal Audit Charter for 2023-24 which 

highlights the role of internal audit and how it will conduct its work. 
 
 
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 68



 

 

INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN AND CHARTER 2023-24 
 

  

Audit and Governance Committee 

22 March 2023 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 

 Head of Internal Audit 

 

 
 

 

 

 

P
age 69



  
 

 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24 – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 

 
Page 

 
1. Introduction           2 

 
2. Organisational Context        3 

 
3. Plan Compilation Principles       5 

 
4. Plan Composition         6 

 
5. Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme    12 

 
6. Internal Audit Charter 2023-24       13 

  

 

 

  

P
age 70



  
 

 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24 – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 2 
 

1.  Introduction 
 
1.1 This report provides the Internal Audit Plan and Internal Audit Charter 2023-24 for the Liverpool City Region Combined 

Authority and Merseytravel. 
 

1.2 The Internal Audit Plan is a key requirement of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (hereafter referred to as “the 
Standards”). 

 
1.3 The Plan demonstrates how Internal Audit’s resources will be used during the financial year so as to provide assurance on the 

effectiveness of the internal control systems in place in both organisations, so as to inform the Annual Report and Opinion of 
the Head of Internal Audit for 2023-24 for the Combined Authority and Merseytravel respectively. 

 
1.4 Since the pandemic, the pace of change and level of uncertainty has continued to be significant.  Particular attention has been 

paid to ensuring that the Internal Audit Plan is reflective of, and responsive to, the changing risk landscape of the organisation, 
so as to ensure that the work of Internal Audit directly contributes to providing insight and assurance in those areas of most 
significant threat to the achievement of the strategic objectives set out in the Corporate Plan.  This approach has been 
established through consultation with relevant stakeholders. 

 
1.5 The Internal Audit Charter sets out the role, purpose, and authority of Internal Audit, and the responsibilities of the 

organisation in supporting the work of Internal Audit.  It also details the ethical standards adopted by the Internal Audit service. 
 
  

P
age 71



  
 

 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24 – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 3 
 

2.  Organisational Context 
 
2.1 This is the final year of the 2021-24 Corporate Plan.  The Corporate Priorities are: 
 

 
 
 
2.2 Against this backdrop, the organisational context for the Internal Audit Plan continues to be one of significant and fast-paced 

change. The key recent developments include: 
 

 Continued development and implementation of plans to meet the Combined Authority’s net zero carbon target by 2040; 

 Development of the pipeline of projects and commencement of delivery of schemes using the City Region Sustainable 
Transport Settlement funding; 

 Implementation of the systems to replace EU structural funds – UK Shared Prosperity Fund; 

 Government approval of the Business Case for the Liverpool City Region Freeport; 

 Development of a model for the future shape of bus services across the City Region; and 

 Introduction into service of the new trains on the Merseyrail network. 
 
2.3  The pace of change and level of uncertainty has continued to be significant since the pandemic, and these factors will 

continue to present risks to the City Region economy as well as to the organisation directly.  These will present challenges 
such as increases in operating costs arising from increased inflation; increased cost of borrowing arising from the higher 
interest rate; pressure on projects arising from availability of contractors, suppliers and materials; workforce pressures arising 
from national changes in working patterns and high competition for skills in key areas; and continued national political 
uncertainty creating a reduced level of confidence in continuity of government policy. 

P
age 72



  
 

 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24 – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 4 
 

 
2.4 Supporting the delivery of the Corporate Priorities, it is important that the organisation manages these risks effectively and 

establishes and maintains robust systems of internal control and corporate governance. 
 
2.5 The Internal Audit Plan 2023-24 provides scope to provide advice and guidance to the organisation on the extent to which 

sound risk management, internal control and governance have been established and are effective in respect of key 
developing systems, new/emerging areas of risk or significant opportunities.   

P
age 73



  
 

 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24 – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 5 
 

3.  Plan Compilation Principles 
 
3.1 The Standards state that the “Chief Audit Executive” must “establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of the internal 

audit activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals”. They refer to the need for the plan to reflect the assurance framework, 
risk management arrangements and to take account of input from management and “the board”. 
 

3.2 In meeting this Standard, an extensive consultation and risk assessment exercise has been undertaken to identify potential 
areas for audit, comprising: 

 

 Review of relevant publications such as the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors annual publication Risk in Focus, and 
Horizon Scanning: Challenges and Opportunities 2023, produced by Mazars; 

 Review of the Corporate Risk Register, service, and project risk registers to identify key risks which suggest areas for audit 
coverage; 

 Mapping against the organisation’s assurance framework to identify where there may be assurance needs to be fulfilled by 
Internal Audit, and also where there are adequate alternative sources of assurance which might suggest a lighter touch 
audit might be suitable (see Appendix B); 

 Detailed “understanding the business” meetings with managers, Heads of Service and Assistant Directors across the 
organisation, so as to understand the key business functions, changes and risks presented; 

 Findings and outcomes from previous audit work; 

 Engagement with Directorate Management Teams; and 

 Evaluation of the risks highlighted by the work undertaken in delivering the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23. 
 

3.3  By implementing a risk-based methodology, the Plan is intended to ensure that Internal Audit resource is used to concentrate 
on the most significant identified risks which may jeopardise the achievement of the Corporate Priorities.  Such a focus is also 
intended to assist management in understanding the risks within their own service delivery areas and within key projects, and 
to assist them in developing robust and resource-effective controls to mitigate these risks.  In order to ensure that Internal 
Audit is agile and able to respond to changes in the risk profile, this year’s Plan has been constructed with the emphasis on 
flexibility and responsiveness.    

P
age 74



  
 

 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24 – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 6 
 

4.  Plan Composition 
 
4.1 Summary 
 
4.1.1 The Internal Audit Plan is detailed at Appendix A, and is composed of the following areas: 
 

Plan Heading Description Audit Days 

Combined 
Authority 

Merseytravel 
 

Total 

Core Audit Provision of assurance in respect of statutory or government requirements 
or areas of key risk.  

313 192 505 

Responsive Audit Provision of assurance in respect of areas of new/emerging/escalating 
risks and developing systems. 

173 172 345 

Reactive Audit Allocation of time for investigation of matters brought to the attention of 
Internal Audit on an ad hoc basis, such as allegations of fraud, bribery or 
corruption, or confidential reports (“whistleblows”).   

19 19 38 

Subsidiaries 
 

Work to be delivered to Growth Platform and The Beatles Story 
respectively. 

25 25 50 

Guidance and 
Consultancy 

Providing input to key corporate projects and advising on developing 
systems and emerging risks. 

73 73 146 

Management and 
Corporate 
Responsibilities 
 

Audit management including engagement with the Executive and Senior 
Leadership Teams, quality assurance of audit work, and responsibilities 
such as facilitating the corporate fraud, bribery, and corruption policy 
framework. 

200 123 323 

TOTAL AUDIT DAYS 803 604 1407 

 
4.2 Core Audit 
 
4.2.1 The “core audit” element of the Plan relates to areas of audit work that are either statutory requirements, requirements of 

government or are areas of key risk.  Coverage of these areas is considered essential to delivering a comprehensive 
assurance on the effectiveness of internal control, governance, and risk management. 

 
4.2.2 The main areas of note within this element of the Internal Audit Plan 2023-24 are: 

P
age 75



  
 

 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24 – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 7 
 

 
Governance 
This is the annual review of the organisation’s corporate governance arrangements, in accordance with the CIPFA/Solace 
“Delivering Good Governance in Local Government” (2016) so as to inform the Annual Governance Statements for both 
organisations. 

 
Risk Management 
Review of the extent to which robust and effective arrangements for risk management have been embedded within the 
organisation, so as to optimise delivery of the objectives articulated in the Corporate Plan and supporting plans. This years’ 
review will be conducted externally so as to provide an independent review, cognisant of the Head of Internal Audit’s dual role. 
 
Performance Management 
This review seeks to provide assurance on the operation and effectiveness of the corporate system for managing delivery of 
the priorities articulated in the Corporate Plan. 
   
Financial  
Reviews of the key controls over the most significant areas of financial transactions across the organisation.  
  
 Information Technology 
Technical ICT audit is provided via a contractual arrangement with Salford Technical Internal Audit Services based upon a 
specific risk assessment.  Less technical areas, such as the audit of application control, are to be carried out by the in-house 
audit team.   
 
Procurement and Contracts 
This work seeks to provide assurance on the extent to which goods and services procured are subject to procurement 
exercises where necessary and ensure that the routes to procurement are compliant with the Constitution and Public Contract 
regulations. 

 
Investments 
Thematic review of the controls specific to a number of investment schemes, including review of compliance with the 
Assurance Framework, and risk management processes. 

P
age 76



  
 

 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24 – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 8 
 

 
Programmes 
Review of a number of significant capital schemes across the organisation to appraise a variety of aspects such as 
procurement, performance management, use of gateway process.  
 
Grant Assurance 
Work undertaken to meet statutory requirements in respect of grant funding received by the organisation from various 
government departments.  
 
 Counter-Fraud 
This relates to the proactive internal audit work to contribute to the prevention and detection of fraud, appraising the 
effectiveness of anti-fraud controls in place.   
 
Safeguarding 
This review seeks to provide assurance that appropriate controls are in place to ensure that we keep the people we serve 
safe. 
 
Information Management 
Reviews of the controls in place in respect of Data Protection, Freedom of Information, Environemntal Impact Regulations and 
the Publication Scheme to provide assurance that the organisation is meeting its statutory obligations. 
 
Transport 
Reviews of the controls in place to manage relationships with transport including management of the rail concession and the 
organisations role in managing the bus network. 
 
Equality 
This review seeks to provide assurance that equality impacts are appropriately assessed and considered in decision making. 
 
Net Zero 
Provision of assurance in respect of progress being made towards the Combined Authority’s net zero carbon ambition. 

P
age 77



  
 

 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24 – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 9 
 

 
 
4.3 Responsive Audit 
 
4.3.1 The “responsive audit” element of the Plan relates to work to be conducted in response to identified areas of significant risk to 

the organisation.  As the year progresses, it is often the case that the risks that were identified as most significant at the start 
of the year are superseded by new and emerging risks, risks escalating in score, and others de-escalating, and new projects 
and funding streams coming into being.  So as to remain relevant and connected to these developments and ensure that 
Internal Audit work is relevant and risk-based, the plan accommodates a flexible approach, and giving the opportunity to flex 
the plan within the broad themes identified, so as to tailor the scope of the work appropriately, or indeed, to focus on a 
different area should the risk presented make this necessary. 

 
4.3.2 Such an approach is made possible because of the significant developments in the embeddedness of the corporate system of 

risk management.  It has been stressed to all Directorate Management Teams that the success of the approach relies on the 

Auditable Area Theme Entity Scope Risk Rationale Linkage to Assurance Map

Annual Governance Review Governance CA Statutory work under the Accounts and Audit Regulations to support the 

compilation of the Annual Governance Statements.

Underpins all Corporate Risks

Statutory requirement

Governance and legal/regulatory compliance

Capital Programme - Development and Monitoring Financial MT Review of controls in respect of key financial system Corporate Risk Register - Financial Sustainability Asset and estate management

City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement - Schemes Programmes CA Review of a number of aspects to provide assurance over the key areas of this 

significant funding area.

Corporate Risk Register - Transport Project and programme delivery

Commercial Investments (Loans) - Construction/Equipment Investments CA Review of the controls in respect of investment schemes Corporate Risk Register - Economic Prosperity Project and programme delivery

Counter Fraud Counter Fraud CA Completion of a range of audit reviews of controls to prevent and detect fraud, 

bribery and corruption.

Corporate Risk Register - Financial Sustainability Counter fraud, bribery and corruption arrangements

Creditors and Cheque Control Financial CA Review of controls in respect of key financial system Corporate Risk Register - Financial Sustainability Robust financial management

Data Protection Information Management CA Review of the controls in respect of Data Protection Corporate Risk Register - Resilience Effective information management

Debtors Financial CA Review of controls in respect of key financial system Corporate Risk Register - Economic Prosperity Robust financial management

Equality Impact Assessment in Decision Making Equality CA Review of controls for ensuring that equality impacts are reflected in decision-

making.

Corporate Risk Register - Resilience Equality and diversity

FoI / EIR / Publication Scheme Information Management CA Review of the controls in respect of FOI,  EIR and the Publication Scheme Corporate Risk Register - Resilience Effective information management

Grant Claim Pre-payment Checks Grant Assurance CA Review of the controls in respect of grant claim administration Corporate Risk Register - Financial Sustainability Fulfilment of Devolution Deal obligations

Investment Funds (Grants)  - SIF, TCF etc. Assurance Framework Investments CA Review of the controls in respect of investment schemes Corporate Risk Register - Economic Prosperity Project and programme delivery

IT Application Control IT CA Review of controls in respect of a range of key applications Corporate Risk Register - Resilience ICT operations and security

Net Zero Programmes CA Review of arrangements in place and being developed to translate net zero 

ambitions into actions, and progress towards environmental targets.

Corporate Risk Register - Environment Contributing to net zero carbon

Payroll Financial CA Review of the controls in respect of key financial system Corporate Risk Register - Financial Sustainability Human resources and capacity

Peformance Management Performance Management CA Review of the system of corporate performance management and the extent to 

which this is embedded across the organisation.

Underpins the Corporate Risk Register process Effective performance management

Procurement - Compliance with Constitution Procurement & Contracts CA/MT Review of a number of procurements to ensure compliance with Constitution 

and legislation.

Numerous service and project risk registers Effective procurement and commissioning 

arrangements

Programme / Project Assurance Programmes CA Review of the controls in respect of programme and project management Corporate Risk Register - Economic Prosperity Project and programme delivery

Risk Management Risk Management CA Review of the system of corporate risk management and the extent to which 

this is embedded across the organisation.

Underpins the Corporate Risk Register process Robust risk management

Rolling Stock Programmes MT Review of key areas of control to align with key stages of project delivery Corporate Risk Register - Transport Project and programme delivery

Safeguarding Safeguarding CA Review of the controls in respect of Safeguarding Corporate Risk Register - Resilience Safeguarding

Transport Operators Transport MT Review of management of bus and rail operators, including management of the 

rail concession, role in managing the bus network, and ensuring resilience 

and continuity of service.

Corporate Risk Register - Transport Transport operations

IT Technical Audit IT CA Review of a number of IT processes to ensure appropriate controls are in 

place to minimise key IT risks

Corporate Risk Register - Resilience ICT operations and security

P
age 78



  
 

 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24 – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 10 
 

continued development of this system, and all are supportive of this in order to derive the significant benefits the approach 
delivers to the business. 

 
4.3.3 The themes within this element of the Internal Audit Plan 2023-24 are: 
 

 Equality 

 Ethics and Conduct 

 Grant Assurance 

 Health and Safety 

 Human Resources 

 Information Management 

 IT 

 Operations 

 Organisational Development 

 Policy and Strategy 

 Procurement and Contracts 

 Programmes 

 Resilience 

 Transport 
 

Some of these themes are also included within the Core element of the Plan, and the responsive element gives the 
opportunity to explore areas of control which go beyond the statutory or key risk requirement. 

 
4.4 Reactive Audit 
 
4.4.1 The “reactive audit” element of the Plan relates to a provision of time for the investigation of matters brought to the attention 

of Internal Audit on an ad hoc basis, such as allegations of fraud, bribery or corruption, or confidential reports (“whistleblows”).  
Should this time not be required, it will be used for the “responsive audit” element of the Plan. 

 
 

P
age 79



  
 

 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24 – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 11 
 

4.5 Subsidiaries 
 
4.5.1 A Letter of Engagement and Plan is in place for The Beatles Story and The Growth Platform.  These contain 25 days of audit 

work for each entity. Both Plans contain a number of suggested areas for audit, and discussions are being held during March 
to finalise the Plans for the work in respect of each entity.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

  P
age 80



  
 

 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24 – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 12 
 

5.  Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP)  
 
5.1 The Standards require that the Internal Audit function establishes a Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP), 

and in doing so, continuously develops its quality and effectiveness. 
 
5.2 A suite of performance indicators has been developed to allow for reporting and monitoring the performance and effectiveness 

of the service, so as to provide an assurance of the quality of its work and usage of the results of this monitoring to improve 
continuously the service provided. 

 
5.3 Details of the outcomes of audit work will continue to be presented to every meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee, 

as will the performance against each of the indicators detailed below.  
 

5.4 For 2023-24, the performance indicators and associated targets are: 
 

Description and Purpose Target 

Compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 
This measures the extent to which the results of internal assessment indicate that the Service retains its full compliance 
with the PSIAS. 

100% 
 

Percentage of Client Survey responses indicating a “very good” or “good” opinion 
This measures the feedback received on the service provided and seeks to provide assurance that Internal Auditors 
conduct their duties in a professional manner. 

100% 

Percentage of annual senior management survey responses indicating satisfaction with the Internal Audit 
service provided 
This measures the feedback received on the level of satisfaction amongst senior management, expressed during the 
annual satisfaction survey. 

100% 

Percentage of recommendations implemented within a reasonable timescale 
This measures the extent to which managers feel that the recommendations made are appropriate and valuable in 
strengthening the control environment and also provides the Committee with a view on how effective management 
action is in responding to recommendations. 

100% 

 
 

P
age 81



  
 

 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24 – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 13 
 

6.  Internal Audit Charter  
 
6.1  In compliance with the Standards, Internal Audit is required to establish a Charter which sets out its role, purpose, and 

authority. 
 
6.2  This provides clarity and legitimacy to the role of Internal Audit in the organisation and assists the function in operating in line 

within an agreed framework. 
 
6.3  The document acts as a guide for Internal Auditors in their daily work, but also assists officers and members in understanding 

what internal audit is and how it operates, and how they can support effective internal audit work.  The document includes a 
Code of Ethics which details the ethical standards auditors are required to demonstrate, to which all auditors attest on an 
annual basis. 

 
6.4  The Charter has been prepared so as to meet the Standards and it incorporates all relevant requirements. 
 
6.5  The Charter is shown at Appendix C. This is reviewed and presented to this Committee and Merseytravel Board for approval 

annually.  

 

P
age 82



Auditable Area Theme

Annual Governance Review Governance

Capital Programme - Development and Monitoring Financial

City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement - Schemes Programmes

Commercial Investments (Loans) Investments

Counter Fraud Counter Fraud

Creditors and Cheque Control Financial

Data Protection Information Management

Debtors Financial

Equality Impact Assessment in Decision Making Equality

FoI / EIR / Publication Scheme Information Management

Grant Claim Pre-payment Checks Grant Assurance

Investment Funds (Grants) Investments

IT Application Control IT

Net Zero Programmes

Payroll Financial

Peformance Management Performance Management

Procurement - Compliance with Constitution Procurement & Contracts

Programme / Project Assurance Programmes

Risk Management Risk Management

Rolling Stock Programmes

Safeguarding Health & Safety

Transport Operators Transport

IT Technical Audit IT

TOTAL

Equality

Ethics and Conduct

Grant Assurance

Health and Safety

Human Resources

Information Management

IT

Operations

Organisational Development

Policy and Strategy

Procurement and Contracts

Programmes

Resilience

Transport

CORE AUDIT

RESPONSIVE AUDIT THEMES

Page 83



TOTAL

Investigations

TOTAL

LEP/Growth Platform

The Beatles Story

TOTAL

TOTAL

Audit management including engagement with the Executive and Senior 

Leadership Teams, quality assurance of audit work, and responsibilities 

such as facilitating the corporate counter-fraud, bribery and corruption policy 

framework.
TOTAL

TOTAL AUDIT DAYS

REACTIVE AUDIT

SUBSIDIARIES

GUIDANCE AND CONSULTANCY

MANAGEMENT AND CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITIES

Providing input to key corporate projects and advising on developing 

systems and emerging risks.

Page 84



Internal Audit Plan 2023-24

Entity Audit Days

CA

MT

CA

CA

CA

CA

CA

CA

CA

CA

CA

CA

CA

CA

CA

CA

CA/MT

CA

CA

MT

CA

MT

CA 45

505

CA

CA

CA/MT

CA

CA

CA

CA

MT

CA

CA

CA/MT

CA/MT

MT

MT

CORE AUDIT

RESPONSIVE AUDIT THEMES

460

345

Page 85



345

Corp 38

38

CA 25

MT 25

50

CA 79

MT 67

146

Corp 323

323

1407 

REACTIVE AUDIT

SUBSIDIARIES

GUIDANCE AND CONSULTANCY

MANAGEMENT AND CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITIES

Page 86



Internal Audit Plan 2023-24

Scope

Statutory work under the Accounts and Audit Regulations to support the 

compilation of the Annual Governance Statements.
Review of controls in respect of key financial system

Review of a number of aspects to provide assurance over the key areas of this 

significant funding area.
Review of the controls in respect of investment schemes

Completion of a range of audit reviews of controls to prevent and detect fraud, 

bribery and corruption.
Review of controls in respect of key financial system

Review of the controls in respect of Data Protection

Review of controls in respect of key financial system

Review of controls for ensuring that equality impacts are reflected in decision-

making.
Review of the controls in respect of FOI,  EIR and the Publication Scheme 

Review of the controls in respect of grant claim administration 

Review of the controls in respect of investment schemes

Review of controls in respect of a range of key applications

Review of arrangements in place and being developed to translate net zero 

ambitions into actions, and progress towards environmental targets.
Review of the controls in respect of key financial system

Review of the system of corporate performance management and the extent to 

which this is embedded across the organisation.
Review of a number of procurements to ensure compliance with Constitution 

and legislation.
Review of the controls in respect of programme and project management 

Review of the system of corporate risk management and the extent to which 

this is embedded across the organisation.
Review of key areas of control to align with key stages of project delivery

Review of the controls in respect of Safeguarding

Review of management of bus and rail operators, including management of the 

rail concession, role in managing the bus network, and ensuring resilience and 

continuity of service.
Review of a number of IT processes to ensure appropriate controls are in place 

to minimise key IT risks

CORE AUDIT

RESPONSIVE AUDIT THEMES

Page 87



Allocation of time for ad-hoc matters such as allegations of fraud, bribery or

corruption, or confidential reports (“whistleblows”).  

Audit work in accordance with agreed Letter of Engagement and Plan.

Audit work in accordance with agreed Letter of Engagement and Plan.

REACTIVE AUDIT

SUBSIDIARIES

GUIDANCE AND CONSULTANCY

MANAGEMENT AND CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITIES

Page 88



Risk Rationale

Underpins all Corporate Risks

Statutory requirement
Corporate Risk Register - Financial Sustainability

Corporate Risk Register - Transport

Corporate Risk Register - Economic Prosperity

Corporate Risk Register - Financial Sustainability

Corporate Risk Register - Financial Sustainability

Corporate Risk Register - Resilience

Corporate Risk Register - Economic Prosperity

Corporate Risk Register - Resilience

Corporate Risk Register - Resilience

Corporate Risk Register - Financial Sustainability

Corporate Risk Register - Economic Prosperity

Corporate Risk Register - Resilience

Corporate Risk Register - Environment

Corporate Risk Register - Financial Sustainability

Underpins the Corporate Risk Register process

Numerous service and project risk registers

Corporate Risk Register - Economic Prosperity

Underpins the Corporate Risk Register process

Corporate Risk Register - Transport

Corporate Risk Register - Resilience

Corporate Risk Register - Transport

Corporate Risk Register - Resilience

CORE AUDIT

RESPONSIVE AUDIT THEMES

To be aligned with relevant Corporate and pertinent 

Service and Project risks as appropriate.

Page 89



REACTIVE AUDIT

SUBSIDIARIES

GUIDANCE AND CONSULTANCY

MANAGEMENT AND CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITIES

Page 90



Linkage to Assurance Map

Governance and legal/regulatory compliance

Asset and estate management

Project and programme delivery

Project and programme delivery

Counter fraud, bribery and corruption arrangements

Robust financial management

Effective information management

Robust financial management

Equality and diversity

Effective information management

Fulfilment of Devolution Deal obligations

Project and programme delivery

ICT operations and security

Contributing to net zero carbon

Human resources and capacity

Effective performance management

Effective procurement and commissioning 

arrangements
Project and programme delivery

Robust risk management

Project and programme delivery

Safeguarding

Transport operations

ICT operations and security

CORE AUDIT

RESPONSIVE AUDIT THEMES

Page 91



REACTIVE AUDIT

SUBSIDIARIES

GUIDANCE AND CONSULTANCY

MANAGEMENT AND CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITIES

Page 92



 APPENDIX B

First Line  

Management Assurance

Second Line 

Oversight

Third Line 

Independent Review

Fourth Line 

External Review

Provision of services to 

stakeholders; managing risk

Expertise, support, monitoring and 

challenge on risk related-matters

Internal independent and objective 

assurance and advice on all matters 

related to the achievement of 

objectives 

External independent and objective assurance and 

advice on all matters related to the achievement of 

objectives

Fulfilment of Devolution Deal 

obligations

Liverpool City Region National 

Local Growth Assurance 

Framework (LCRNLGAF)

Internal Panel Internal audit annual work on 

grant certifications

Investment Panel

Fund-specific Boards

Annual Conversation with Government

Government review of Gainshare

BEIS audits of ERDF schemes

Robust financial management Financial Regulations

Scheme of delegation

 Leadership Team scrutiny

Treasury Management Policy

Budget setting and monitoring 

process

Member scrutiny

Internal audit annual work on 

financial systems

External audit of accounts and value for money

Effective performance 

management

Corporate Plan

Directorate and Service Plans

Monitoring and evaluation 

framework

Reporting to ELT

Reporting to Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee

Liaison between Risk Manager and 

Performance Manager re 

risk/performance links

Internal audit work on 

performance management 2022-

23

External audit review of value for money

Effective information management Information Management e-

learning

Information management policy 

framework

Officer review of data breaches 

under Data Breach Protocol

Information Management Group

Internal audit work on information 

management 2023-24

Information Commissioner's Office inspections

Assurance 

ASSURANCE MAP

P
age 93



ICT operations and security Acceptable Use Policies

Mandatory cyber security e-

learning

Security measures such as 

patching, access protocols

Risk Manager review of risk register

Business Continuity Plans and 

testing

Internal audit annual work on ICT 

(technical and non-technical)

External penetration testing

Cyber Essentials Plus Accreditation

Effective health and safety 

procedures

Health and safety risk 

assessments

Health and Safety Policy

Mandatory e-learning

Incident investigations Audits by the Health and Safety 

Team

Internal Audit work 2021-22

Asset inspections for insurance purposes - 

tunnels, ferries

Mersey Ferries statutory inspections

Reporting of incidents and potential 

investigations by Health and Safety Executive

Project and programme delivery Liverpool City Region National 

Local Growth Assurance 

Framework (LCRNLGAF)

Project risk registers

Gateway reviews of projects

Delivery Board meetings

PMO dashboards

Internal Panel

Internal audit annual review of 

investment schemes and capital 

schemes

Review of grant claims

Investment Panel

Government review of returns

Counter fraud, bribery and 

corruption arrangements

Counter- Fraud Protocols 

Fraud Awareness e-learning

Assessment of fraud risk by Heads 

of Service/ Assistant Directors and 

project leads

Internal audit annual proactive 

and reactive fraud work

Assessment of fraud risk as part of external 

audit of accounts

Participation in National Fraud Initiative (NFI)

Safeguarding Safeguarding Policy

Safeguarding e-learning 

package

IT system for recording incidents 

(under development)

Safeguarding Board

Internal Audit review 2023-24 Insurance broker review 2022

Business continuity Business Continuity Policy

Resilience Group

Business continuity testing 

exercises

Internal audit review of business 

continuity 2022-23

Merseyside Resilience Forum

Effective procurement and 

commissioning arrangements

Constitution including 

Procurement and Contract 

Procedure Rules

Procurement Team analysis

Procurement and Contracts 

Database

Contract monitoring

Internal audit annual review of 

procurement and contracting

External audit work on value for money

Supply chain resilience Anti-Money Laundering Protocol

Counter-Fraud e-learning

Role of procurement team

Role of investment team re due 

diligence

Internal audit work on Know your 

Customer 2022-23

External audit of value for money

P
age 94



Asset and estate management Stock recording systems and 

checks

Paxton system

Concierge arrangements

Gateway review for capital schemes

Statutory compliance checks on 

estate

Capital programme approval as part 

of budget setting

Internal audit annual work on 

capital schemes

Insurer/broker asset reviews

External review in 2023 to inform service 

transformation

Transport operations Rail concession agreement

Agreements with bus operators

Gateway reviews of projects

Delivery Board meetings

Internal audit work on bus 

payments, rail concession and 

ferries operations 2023-24

Statutory ferries inspections by Maritime and 

Coastguard Agency

Engineering audits of bus operators

Office of Rail and Road regulatory role

Department for Transport annual audit on 

Strategic Rail Grant (to recommence)

Insurer/broker asset inspection of ferries

Governance and legal/regulatory 

compliance

Constitution

Code of Conduct

Code of Corporate Governance

Role of Monitoring Officer Internal Audit Annual 

Governance Review

External Audit review of Annual Governance 

Statement

Equality and diversity Equality Policy

E-learning

Equality Impact Assessment

HR collation of equality and diversity 

workforce data

Internal Audit work on Equality 

Impact Assessment 2023-24

Contributing to net zero carbon Five year net zero carbon action 

plan

Net Zero Carbon Delivery Board Internal audit review 2023-24

Robust risk management Corporate Risk Management 

Policy and Handbook

Risk management training

Corporate, service and project risk 

registers

Internal audit review of the risk 

management system 2021-22

Review by insurance brokers 2023

Human resources and capacity

HR policy framework

People Strategy

Vacancy management process by 

Executive Leadership Team

Internal audit annual review of 

payroll

Internal audit work on recruitment 

and selection 2022-23

External audit work on value for money

Communications and reputation 

management
Communications Strategy

Government relations briefings

Support to officers from Government 

Relations team

Media monitoring

Cabinet Office audit of website accessibility 

2022

P
age 95



Partnerships Governance Assurance Statements

Development of CRM

Annual Governance Review by 

Internal Audit

External audit work on value for money

Adult Education Budget Internal IT system 

Risk assessment of providers

Internal compliance function Review by Internal Audit 2022-23 External review of providers by ESFA and via 

contractor

P
age 96



 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER 2023-24 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 

 

Contents 
           

          Page 

1. Purpose        2 

P
age 97



 
 

 

2. Definitions        3 

3. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards    5 

4. Responsibilities       6 

5. Independence of Internal Audit     8 

6. The Head of Internal Audit      9 

7. The Scope of Internal Audit     10 

Appendix A: Internal Audit Code of Ethics    13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Purpose 
. Introduction 
1.1 The purpose of the Internal Audit Charter is to define internal audit’s purpose, authority, and responsibility. It establishes 

the Internal Audit service’s position within Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) and Merseytravel and 
defines the scope of its activities. It also sets out management responsibilities for supporting the work of internal audit. 

 

P
age 98



 
 

 

1.2 The presence, and annual approval of the Internal Audit Charter is a key requirement of the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards issued in June 2017 (hereafter referred to as “the Standards”). The requirements of an Internal Audit Charter 
are defined in the Standards at Standard 1000: Purpose, Authority and Responsibility. The Charter must: 

 

 define the terms ‘board’ and ‘senior management’ for the purposes of internal audit activity; 

 cover the arrangements for appropriate resourcing; 

 define the role of internal audit in any fraud-related work; and  

 describe safeguards to impairment of independence or objectivity if internal audit or the Head of Internal Audit 
undertakes non-audit activities. 

 
1.3 This Charter is reviewed annually by the Head of Internal Audit and updated as required so as to reflect changes to the 

Standards or to the operating environment and is presented to the Audit and Governance Committee and Merseytravel 
Board for approval. 

 
  

P
age 99



 
 

 

2. Definitions 
 
2.1 The Standards define internal auditing as “an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add 

value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a 
systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control, and governance 
processes.” 

 
2.2 The Standards define the Mission of Internal Audit as: “to enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-

based and objective assurance, advice and insight”. 
 
2.3 The Standards also include ten Core Principles of Internal Audit: 
 

 Demonstrates integrity; 

 Demonstrates competence and due professional care; 

 Is objective and free from undue influence (independent); 

 Aligns with the strategies, objectives, and risks of the organisation; 

 Is appropriately positioned and resourced; 

 Demonstrates quality and continuous improvement; 

 Communicates effectively; 

 Provides risk-based assurance; 

 Is insightful, proactive, and future-focused; and 

 Promotes organisational improvement. 
 
2.4 The Standards require that the Internal Audit Charter defines the terms "board", "senior management" and "Chief Audit 

Executive" in relation to the work of internal audit: 
 
 
 
 

Term Definition 

P
age 100



 
 

 

The Board Audit and Governance Committee and the Merseytravel Board assume the role of the Board as 
defined by the Standards. 
 
These Boards are responsible for overseeing the work of internal audit and provide independent 
review of the Authority’s governance, risk management and control frameworks and oversee the 
financial reporting and annual governance processes. They help to ensure efficient and effective 
assurance arrangements are in place.  
 

Senior 
Management 

The Executive Leadership Team (ELT) fulfils the role of “senior management” as defined by the 
Standards.  
The Chief Executive (as Head of Paid Service), Executive Director of Corporate Services (as 
Section 73 Officer) and the Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer, are the statutory officers. 
The Executive Director of Corporate Services is responsible for ensuring appropriate internal audit 
arrangements are established and maintained. 
 

Chief Audit 
Executive 

The Head of Internal Audit fulfils the Chief Audit Executive (CAE) role, as defined by the 
Standards. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 101



 
 

 

3. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
 
3.1 The Relevant Internal Audit Standard Setters, which includes the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

(CIPFA), adopted the Standards with effect from 1 April 2013. These Standards replaced the CIPFA Code of Practice for 
Internal Audit in Local Government in the United Kingdom 2006. The Standards encompass the mandatory elements of 
the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA) International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF).  

 
3.2 The Standards were subject to review and update in April 2017 and can be accessed via the following link: Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards (April 2017) 
 
3.3 Compliance with the Standards is mandatory. CIPFA has developed a Local Government Application Note (LGAN) 

detailing the sector-specific requirements for compliance with the Standards within Local Authorities and other relevant 
public sector bodies, including Combined Authorities. This consists of an extensive self-assessment, which facilitates 
consistent interpretation of the Standards within the public sector environment and enables compliance with the 
requirements of the Standards to be evaluated. 

 
3.4 The Head of Internal Audit must undertake a self-assessment of compliance with the Standards on a regular basis. An 

external assessment or validation of the self-assessment must also be conducted at least once every five years, by a 
qualified, independent assessor or assessment team from outside the organisation. The results of these assessments are 
reported to the Audit and Governance Committee and levels of compliance comprise one of the Internal Audit Service’s 
performance indicators. 

 
 
 

  

P
age 102

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/standards/public-sector-internal-audit-standards
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/standards/public-sector-internal-audit-standards


 
 

 

4. Responsibilities 
 
4.1 The Executive Director of Corporate Services is required to ensure that appropriate arrangements are made for the 

provision of an effective and comprehensive internal audit service. This includes ensuring that the Chief Audit Executive 
demonstrates sufficient professional competence and experience and ensuring that the service is appropriately resourced. 

 
4.2 The Internal Audit function is responsible for establishing procedures and applying the required resources to ensure that 

the service conforms to the Mission Statement and Definition of Internal Auditing, the Core Principles, and the Standards. 
All members of the Internal Audit team must also demonstrate conformance with a Code of Ethics, which is attached at 
Appendix A.  

 
4.3 The Head of Internal Audit must deliver an Annual Report and Opinion in respect of both the Combined Authority and 

Merseytravel which conclude on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of each organisation’s framework of governance, 
risk management and control. These are used to inform the Annual Governance Statements of the respective 
organisations.  

 
4.4 Senior Management has a responsibility to maintain an effective internal control environment. They must work effectively 

with Internal Audit by providing relevant input to the audit planning process and completion of audit work, access to 
relevant staff, records, and assets, and crucially by responding promptly and effectively to recommendations made by 
Internal Audit. Implementation of recommendations is monitored by Internal Audit and reported to the Audit and 
Governance Committee. Officers may be required to attend the Audit and Governance Committee to explain their 
approach to implementation of recommendations and account for any delays or lack of progress. 

 
4.5 Where necessary in the conduct of their work, internal auditors are entitled to require and receive: 
 

 access to all records, documents and correspondence relating to any financial or other relevant transactions, 
including documents of a confidential nature; 

 access at all reasonable times to any land, premises and officers of the organisation, or officers acting on behalf of 
the organisation; 

 the production of any cash, assets, or other property of the organisation under an officer’s control; and 

P
age 103



 
 

 

 explanations concerning any matter under investigation. 
 
 
 
  

P
age 104



 
 

 

5. Independence of Internal Audit 
 
5.1 The Internal Audit service must be independent and internal auditors must be objective in performing their work. The Head 

of Internal Audit must confirm the organisational independence of the internal audit activity, at least annually, and this is 
contained within the Annual Report.  

 
5.2 The Head of Internal Audit has operational responsibility for the facilitation of the system of corporate risk management, 

and also the management of the corporate insurance portfolio. Where this is likely to create a potential or perceived 
conflict or to compromise the independence of the Internal Audit function, the statutory role held by the Head of Internal 
Audit takes precedence.  Operational safeguards are in place to preserve against any perceived impairment of objectivity. 
For example, the independence of the Head of Internal Audit is maintained when audit work in this area is taking place, 
using the Executive Director of Corporate Services, Audit Manager and Risk Manager roles to remove the Head of Internal 
Audit from shaping the audit scope or commenting on findings. 

 
5.3 As well as completing an annual statement of conformance with the Internal Audit Code of Ethics (see Appendix A) 

Internal Auditors complete a corporate Declaration of Interest form on an annual basis, and these are updated if changes 
are required. Declarations are reviewed and any action required to preserve independence and objectivity is taken, to 
ensure that the independence of future internal audit work could not be perceived to have been compromised. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 105



 
 

 

 

6. The Head of Internal Audit 
 
6.1 The Executive Director of Corporate Services must be satisfied that the Head of Internal Audit has sufficient skill, 

experience, and professional competence to work with the Executive and Senior Leadership Teams, the Audit and 
Governance Committee and Merseytravel Board to appraise and inform the risk management, governance, and internal 
control arrangements of the organisation.  

 
6.2 The Head of Internal Audit is responsible for ensuring that the staffing resources are appropriately utilised and that the 

members of the Internal Audit team possess the appropriate knowledge, skills, qualifications, and experience to deliver the 
Internal Audit Plan and to meet the requirements of the Standards.  

 
6.3 The Head of Internal Audit reports directly to the Executive Director of Corporate Services. The Head of Internal Audit has 

an independent right of access to the Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee if required. In exceptional 
circumstances, where normal reporting channels may be seen to impinge on the objectivity of the audit, the Head of Internal 
Audit may report directly to the Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee. Where appropriate, the Head of Internal 
Audit may report matters of concern directly to the Chief Executive. 

 
6.4 The Head of Internal Audit, or an appropriate representative of the Internal Audit team, attends all meetings of the Audit and 

Governance Committee unless, exceptionally, the Audit and Governance Committee decides that they should be excluded 
from either the whole meeting or from particular agenda items.  

 
6.5 Internal Audit co-operates with and assists the appointed External Auditors, who are invited to attend all meetings of the 

Audit and Governance Committee. 
 
  

P
age 106



 
 

 

7. Scope of Internal Audit 
 
7.1 The Head of Internal Audit has developed and maintains a process for providing an objective evaluation of the effectiveness 

of the organisation’s risk management, governance, and internal control arrangements, culminating in the Head of Internal 
Audit Annual Report and Opinion.  

 
7.2 Internal Audit’s activities should be undertaken effectively and efficiently and with due professional care and competence. 
 
7.3 In forming the Annual Report and Opinion, Internal Audit must evaluate and contribute to the improvement of governance, 

risk management and control processes using a systematic, disciplined and risk-based approach. Internal Audit’s work is 
determined through an annual and ongoing risk assessment and planning process, undertaken in conjunction with officers 
and with regard for the relevant risk registers. The Internal Audit Plan is flexible, so it is able to reflect the changing risk 
profile of the organisation and is subject to ongoing review and update during the year to ensure that it is fit for purpose and 
responds effectively to provide assurance on key risks. The Internal Audit Plan is approved by the Audit and Governance 
Committee and Merseytravel Board. 

 
7.4 Internal Audit must assess and make appropriate recommendations for improving the organisation’s governance framework 

in its accomplishment of the following objectives: 
 

 promoting appropriate ethics and values within the organisation;  

 ensuring effective organisational performance management and accountability;  

 communicating risk and control information to appropriate areas of the organisation; and  

 co-ordinating the activities of and communicating information to the Audit and Governance Committee, Merseytravel 
Board, external audit, internal auditors, and senior management. 

 
7.5 Internal Audit must evaluate the effectiveness of, and contribute to, the improvement of risk management by: 
 

 ensuring significant risks are identified and assessed when scoping audit work; and 

 ensuring that audit recommendations are appropriate to address key risk areas identified. 
 

P
age 107



 
 

 

7.6 Internal Audit must assist the organisation in maintaining an effective control environment by evaluating its effectiveness 
and efficiency and by promoting continuous improvement. Internal Audit must evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of 
controls in responding to risks within the organisation’s governance, operations and information systems regarding:  

 

 achievement of the organisation’s strategic objectives as defined by the Corporate Plan; 

 reliability and integrity of financial and operational information; 

 securing value for money through the economy, effectiveness, and efficiency of activities; 

 safeguarding of the Authority’s assets and interests from losses of all kinds, including those arising from theft, fraud, 
irregularity, corruption, or bribery; and 

 compliance with laws, regulations, policies, procedures, and contractual obligations. 
 

The Head of Internal Audit must ensure appropriate internal audit arrangements are in place in respect of partnership or 
joint working arrangements. 

 
 
7.7 Internal Audit may provide an advisory and consultancy service. Such work often arises as a result of a specific request by 

senior management. The aim of the consultancy service is to provide advice and guidance to help senior management to 
improve the Authority’s risk management, governance, and internal control arrangements, and therefore this would not 
usually inform the Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Opinion. 

 
7.8 The Head of Internal Audit must consider the effect on the work required to formulate the Annual Opinion before accepting 

consultancy work or management requests. Approval would be sought from the Audit and Governance Committee for any 
significant additional consulting services not already included in the Internal Audit Plan prior to accepting the engagement, 
if it is deemed that undertaking this work could compromise delivery of the agreed Internal Audit Plan or impinge on the 
Head of Internal Audit’s ability to deliver the Annual Report and Opinion.   

 
7.9 Managing the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption is the responsibility of management. The Executive Director of 

Corporate Services has specific responsibilities in relation to the detection and investigation of fraud and may request 
Internal Audit to assist with the investigation of suspected fraud or corruption. Internal Audit should be notified of all 
suspected or detected fraud, corruption, or impropriety, to inform its work and its opinion on the control environment.  

 

P
age 108



 
 

 

7.10 The Executive Director of Corporate Services and Head of Internal Audit will ensure that the Authority is seeking to ensure 
appropriate governance and operational arrangements in place to counter fraud, bribery, and corruption, in accordance 
with the (non-statutory) requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption 
(2014). Compliance with the Code and ongoing actions to achieve compliance will be reported to the Audit and 
Governance Committee. 

 
7.11 Progress reports on the work of Internal Audit will be presented to the Audit and Governance Committee on a quarterly 

basis during the year, in accordance with the requirements of Internal Audit’s Quality Assurance and Improvement 
Programme (QAIP). These reports will detail the key findings, opinions and key recommendations arising from Internal 
Audit work completed in each period. 

 
7.12 The culmination of the work completed by Internal Audit during the year is the Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and 

Opinion, which is produced in respect of the Combined Authority and Merseytravel.  These presented to Senior 
Management, Audit and Governance Committee and Merseytravel Board respectively on an annual basis following 
financial year end. Each report sets out the Head of Internal Audit’s opinion, based upon the work completed during the 
year, on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the framework of governance, risk management, and internal control in 
the Combined Authority and in Merseytravel, respectively. The report conforms to the Standards. 

 
7.13 If the Head of Internal Audit or the Audit and Governance Committee or Merseytravel Board considers that the level of 

audit resources or its terms of reference in any way limits the scope of Internal Audit or prejudices the ability of internal 
audit to deliver a service consistent with the Definition of Internal Auditing and the Standards, the statutory officers should 
be advised accordingly. 

 
 

  

P
age 109



 
 

 

APPENDIX A  
INTERNAL AUDIT CODE OF ETHICS  

Requirements 
 
In accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (“the Standards”), internal auditors in UK public sector 
organisations must conform to a Code of Ethics.  
 
If individual internal auditors have membership of a professional body, they must also comply with the relevant requirements of 
that body. 
 
The purpose of the Code of Ethics is to promote an ethical culture in the profession of internal auditing. A Code of Ethics is 
necessary and appropriate for the profession of internal auditing, founded as it is on the trust placed in its objective assurance of 
risk management, internal control, and governance. 
 
The Code of Ethics includes two essential components: 
 
1. Principles that are relevant to the profession and practice of internal auditing; and 
 
2. Rules of Conduct that describe behaviour expected of internal auditors.  
 
These rules are an aid to interpreting the principles into practical applications and are intended to guide the ethical conduct of 
internal auditors. 
 
The Code of Ethics provides guidance to internal auditors serving others. 
 
The term ‘internal auditors’ refers to members of recognised professional bodies (e.g., CIPFA, CIIA) and those who provide 
internal auditing services within the definition of internal auditing. 
 
The Code of Ethics also takes into consideration the relevant Principles of Internal Audit, as defined by the Standards as follows: 
 
 

P
age 110



 
 

 

 Demonstrates integrity 

 Demonstrates competence and due professional care 

 Is objective and free from undue influence (independent) 

 Aligns with the strategies, objectives, and risks of the organisation 

 Is appropriately positioned and resourced 

 Demonstrates quality and continuous improvement 

 Communicates effectively 

 Provides risk-based assurance 

 Is insightful, proactive, and future-focused 

 Promotes organisational improvement 
 
 
Applicability and Enforcement 
 
This Code of Ethics applies to both individuals and entities that provide internal auditing services. Organisational disciplinary 
procedures, and those of professional bodies, may be invoked in cases of breaches of this Code of Ethics. 
 
Integrity 
 
Principle 1:  
The integrity of internal auditors establishes trust and thus provides the basis for reliance on their judgement. 
 
Rules of Conduct: 
 
Internal Auditors: 
 

 Shall perform their work with honesty, diligence, and responsibility 

 Shall observe the law and make disclosures expected by the law and the profession 

 Shall not knowingly be a party to any illegal activity, or engage in acts that are discreditable to the profession of internal 
auditing or to the organisation 

P
age 111



 
 

 

 Shall respect and contribute to the legitimate and ethical objectives of the organisation. 
 
Competency 
 
Principle 2: 
Internal auditors apply the knowledge, skills and experience needed in the performance of internal auditing services. 
 
Rules of Conduct: 
 
Internal Auditors: 
 

 Shall engage only in those services for which they have the necessary knowledge, skills, and experience 

 Shall perform internal auditing services in accordance with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal 
Auditing 

 Shall continually improve their proficiency and effectiveness and quality of their services. 
 
Internal auditors who work in the public sector must also have regard to the Committee on Standards of Public Life’s Seven 
Principles of Public Life (the “Nolan Principles”):  
 

 Selflessness 

 Integrity 

 Objectivity 

 Accountability 

 Openness 

 Honesty 

 Leadership. 
 
Further information on the Nolan Principles can be accessed via the following link: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-committee-on-standards-in-public-life 

 

P
age 112

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-committee-on-standards-in-public-life


 
 

 

Objectivity 
 
Principle 3: 
Internal auditors exhibit the highest level of professional objectivity in gathering, evaluating, and communicating information about 
the activity or process being examined. 
Internal auditors make a balanced assessment of all the relevant circumstances and are not unduly influenced by their own 
interests or by others in forming judgements. 
 
Rules of Conduct: 
 
Internal Auditors: 
 

 Shall not participate in any activity or relationship that may impair or be presumed to impair their unbiased assessment. This 
participation includes those activities or relationships that may be in conflict with the interests of the organisation 

 Shall not accept anything that may impair or be presumed to impair their professional judgement 

 Shall disclose all material facts known to them that, if not disclosed, may distort the reporting of activities under review. 
 
Confidentiality 
 
Principle 4: 
Internal auditors respect the value and ownership of information they receive and do not disclose information without appropriate 
authority unless there is a legal or professional obligation to do so. 
 
Rules of Conduct: 
 
Internal Auditors: 
 

 Shall be prudent in the use and protection of information acquired in the course of their duties 

 Shall not use information for any personal gain or in any manner that would be contrary to the law or detrimental to the 
legitimate and ethical objectives of the organisation. 

 

P
age 113



 
 

 

Internal Audit seek to promote robust ethical standards throughout the organisation and recognise the importance of an 
appropriate ethical framework and ethical capability, encompassing principled leadership and governance, clear lines of 
accountability and informed and transparent decision-making. This reflects the suggested measures outlined by the Committee 
on Standards in Public Life. 
 

P
age 114



 
Report Title 

 
Risk Management Update 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 
Resources 
 

Summary of report  To provide an update on the risk management 
framework and related activity. 
 

Is this report exempt?  No  
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 
Financial impact 
 

No                    

Dispensation of decision sought and 
details of approval  

 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
Tick which ones are appropriate  

A Fairer City Region   
A Stronger City Region   
A Cleaner City Region   
A Connected City Region   
A Vibrant City Region 
 

 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 
Risks and Mitigation 

No 
 
Yes (See paragraph 4)  
 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit 
laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
 

Appendices Yes  
Appendix 1 - Risk Management Update 
Appendix 2 - Corporate Risk Register  
 

Background Documents No Page 115

Agenda Item 8

mailto:laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Audit and Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday 22 March 2023 
 

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Services 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 
  

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Combined Authority Audit and 

Governance Committee with an update in respect of the risk management 
framework and the activity that has been undertaken in continuing to embed an 
effective system of risk management during the fourth quarter of 2022-23.   
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 
 

(a)  notes the report.  
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 To support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms of 

Reference, the report details the key activities undertaken to embed the system of 
corporate risk management.  The report highlights the following key points: 
 

 an update on the Corporate Risk Register including the key updates made 
since the last report; and 

 the ongoing activity to embed the risk management framework further into the 
organisation. 
 

4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Risks and Mitigation 

 
The implementation of an effective system of risk management supports the 
organisation in the delivery of its objectives, by identifying threats that may 
jeopardise their achievement and maximising opportunities as these arise.  The 
contents of this report give a narrative on the continued progress being made to 
embed such a system. 
  

5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 The organisation continues to make positive progress in embedding a more robust 

and effective system for the management of risk.   
 

JOHN FOGARTY METRO MAYOR S. ROTHERAM 
Executive Director of Corporate Services 

 
Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 

Resources 
 

Page 116



 

 

 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 

 
 

Audit and Governance Committee 
22 March 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
 Head of Internal Audit 

 
 
 

P
age 117



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 1 
 
 

Contents 
 

   
            Page 

  
1. Introduction            2    
 
2. Corporate Risk Register          3      
    
3. Embedding Effective Risk Management        6 
 
 
 
     
               
       
 
 
 
   

 
 
           
  

P
age 118



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 2 
 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of the organisation’s risk management activity for the fourth quarter of 
2022-23. 
 

1.2 It is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee and its purpose is to facilitate the Committee in discharging its 
obligations as defined in its Terms of Reference: “to review the Combined Authority’s financial affairs, internal control, 
corporate governance arrangements and risk management.”  It is also intended to assist in continuing the progress made to 
date in embedding effective strategic and operational risk management into the organisation. 

 
1.3 The report covers: 

 an update on the Corporate Risk Register including the key updates made since the last report; and 

 the ongoing activity to embed the risk management framework further into the organisation. 
  

P
age 119



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 3 
 
 

2. Corporate Risk Register  
 
2.1 The Corporate Risk Register reflects the highest scoring risks across the organisation – those with a residual score in excess 

of 16 (to the maximum score of 25) and therefore graded as “red”. These are the risks which present the most significant 
threats to the achievement of the objectives articulated in the Corporate Plan, and so these risks span the whole organisation. 

 
2.2 The Corporate Risk Register is owned by the Executive Leadership Team (ELT) and each risk has a designated risk owner 

who is a member of ELT, who is responsible for co-ordinating activities to manage the risk and reduce its impact and likelihood 
to its target level, drawing on the support of colleagues across the organisation. 

 
2.3 The Corporate Risk Register features six corporate risks: 

 

P
age 120



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 4 
 
 

2.4 The Corporate Risk Register has been reviewed by the Executive Leadership Team as a whole (facilitated by the Head of 
Internal Audit and Risk Manager) and by each individual Executive Director in their capacity as Risk Owner (the Risk 
Manager holds bi-monthly risk catch-up meetings with each Executive Director to facilitate this review), with the objective of 
ensuring that: 

 

 The risks identified are pertinent; 

 The control measures are in place and working, and reflect any new or additional controls that have been implemented; 

 The risk scoring identified is still considered an accurate representation; 

 The actions identified are appropriate, and progress is being made in progressing these; 

 Any new or emerging risks are captured; and 

 Risks that are reducing in score are identified and de-escalated to service risk registers, as necessary. 
 

2.5  The results of this review were: 
 

 The residual risk scores were discussed, and it was agreed these continue to be assessed appropriately; 

 Risk 1 - Accountability, has been updated. Two actions relating to the task and finish procurement group have been 
completed; 

 Risk 2 - Resilience, the action to implement the Cyber Security Plan has been revised to consider the threats posed by 
hosting the Eurovision Song Contest; 

 Risk 3 - Environment, the deadline date for rolling out the climate awareness training has been pushed back to June 
2023 as no budget had previously been allocated. However, the funding has been identified within the 2023/24 budget 
and training will be rolled out by the end of the first quarter of the next financial year; 

 Risk 4 - Transport, has progressed with some actions completed however, the RAG status on the action to maximise the 
potential of digital technology has been raised to red as the Executive Director for Place believes that this action could 
have been progressed further;  

 Risk 5 – Economic Prosperity, the actions are amber as the Executive Director for Investment and Delivery believes that 
although some progress has been made these actions may need to continue into the next financial year. These actions 
will be reviewed at the next risk drop-in session with the Risk Manager; 

P
age 121



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 5 
 
 

 Risk 6 - Financial Sustainability, all but one action has been completed for the financial year 2023/24 although these 
actions will need to be reconsidered for the financial planning process for 2024/25. 
  

2.6 A summary of the Corporate Risk Register is included in this report at Appendix A.  
  

P
age 122



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 6 
 
 

3. Embedding Effective Risk Management 
 
3.1 Key Activities 
  
3.1.1 Key strands of activity in the period have been: 
  

 Organising and chairing the quarterly Risk Group meeting, which has representatives from all Directorates, to discuss 
emerging risks, progress in managing key risk issues, and promoting awareness of governance issues across the 
organisation. The group is proving particularly useful in identifying new risks emerging across the business, and where 
there are synergies or shared areas of risk.  
 

 Recent Risk Group meetings have identified that a number of Directorates are continuing to identify risks such as supply 
chain, staffing capacity and ethical investment, and that these are having an impact on delivery. A task and finish group 
have been established as a spin-off from the Risk Group to look at supply chain risk and the organisational approaches to 
mitigating the impact of this.  

 

 Facilitating the Executive Leadership Team discussions on Risk Management and leading the discussion on the update 
of the Corporate Risk Register;  
 

 Facilitating review and update of risk registers via meetings with individual executive directors and their management 
teams; 

 

 Delivery of a face-to-face training sessions on risk management for senior managers; 
 

 Provision of an e-learning package for all staff to provide general awareness of the principles of risk management; 
 

 Continuing to facilitate the review of service risks by members of the Senior Leadership Team, and presenting to the SLT 
on risk management;  
 

P
age 123



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 7 
 
 

 Providing corporate support in respect of risk management across the organisation, including facilitating risk workshops 
across all areas of the business and supporting colleagues in their risk management activities; 

 

 Maintenance of a “SharePoint” folder for each Directorate to access and update risk registers in one dedicated location;  
 

 Each service risk register has been reviewed by the Risk Manager and suggestions added where necessary.  An email 
was circulated to all Heads of Service/Assistant Directors to request that they review those suggestions and undertake 
any necessary updates. This will now become a monthly rolling review of the quality and consistency of service risk 
registers, with feedback provided to Risk Owners. 
 

3.2 Implementation of the Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 
 
3.2.1 Following its approval by this Committee at its September meeting and by Merseytravel in October 2022, the Corporate Risk 

Management Policy and Handbook was issued to all Senior Managers via the I4P system. It is pleasing to note that it has 
been read and accepted by over 85%. 
 

3.2.2 The Risk Manager attended each Executive Director’s Management Team meeting during quarter 3 to summarise the key 
changes to the Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook; including the addition of the “stock risks” to the risk 
register template; to encourage members of each management team to read the revised policy and promoting the e-learning 
package and face-to-face training available. It was requested that each service risk register be updated by 23 December 
2022, so as to reflect the updated template and stock risks.  Whilst most service risk registers have been reviewed and 
updated by the Assistant Director/Head of Service, there are still a number of reviews outstanding.  Of the 28 service risk 
resisters established, 20 have been updated, 5 are work in progress, and 3 are overdue. The Risk Manager continues to 
offer ongoing support to ensure the remaining service risk registers are updated accordingly.     
 

3.2.3 The take up of the face-to-face training has been disappointing and has resulted in the cancellation of the last two sessions. 
In total only eleven delegates have attended to date. However, those who have attended have given positive feedback and 
stated that the session provided a clearer understanding of the risk management framework. The e-learning package has 
been completed by 30 staff, and a further 6 are work in progress.  The e-learning offer was made an essential requirement in 
preparation for the face-to-face training. 

P
age 124



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, March 2023 Page | 8 
 
 

 
3.3 Future Developments 
 
3.3.1 A risk workshop will be held with the Executive Leadership Team in April 2023 to review the Corporate Risk Register for 

2023/24. The format will be revised to include a narrative on key milestones. 
 

3.3.2 The organisation’s insurance broker, Griffiths and Armour, has been asked to undertake an independent review of the 
organisation’s risk management arrangements.  The outcomes of the review this will be reported back to this Committee 
once the review has been completed.  

P
age 125



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

CORPORATE RISK REGISTER 2022-23 
 

Audit and Governance Committee 

22 March 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 127



 
CORPORATE RISKS 2022-23 

  

Risk 1

Accountability

There is risk that the Combined 
Authority does not develop and 
maintain sufficient capacity to 

deliver its obligations and 
responsibilities

Risk Owner: Executive Director of 
Investment and Delivery

Residual Score 16

Risk 2

Resilience

There is a risk that the Combined 
Authority fails to develop and 

maintain robust arrangements to 
ensure business resilience and 

continuity

Risk Owner: Executive Director of 
Corporate Development and 

Delivery

Residual Score 20

Risk 3

Environment

There is a risk that the City Region 
does not achieve its ambition of 
being net zero carbon by 2040

Risk Owner: Executive Director of 
Policy, Strategy and Government 

Relations

Residual Score  20

Risk 4

Transport

There is a risk that the role of 
transport in supporting the social, 

economic and environmental 
objectives of the City Region is not 

maximised

Risk Owner: Executive Director of 
Place

Residual Score 20

Risk 5

Economic 
Prosperity

There is a risk that the Combined 
Authority does not contribute 

positively to economic prosperity 
within the City Region

Risk Owner: Executive Director of 
Investment and Delivery

Residual Score 20

Risk 6

Financial 
Sustainability

There is a risk that financial 
pressures will impact negatively 
on the financial sustainability of 

the Combined Authority

Risk Owner: Executive Director of 
Corporate Services

Residual Score 20

P
age 128



 

Risk 1: Accountability 
 
There is risk that the Combined Authority does not develop and maintain sufficient capacity to deliver its obligations and 
responsibilities. 
 
Risk Owner: Executive Director of Investment and Delivery 

 

Potential impact: reputational damage, further devolution jeopardised, loss of current and future government funding/clawback, positive 
impacts for City Region are not maximised, withdrawal of Constituent member, resourcing/capacity of funding programmes could be 
inadequate due to nature of unknown or forthcoming bids. 

Risk Score Impact Likelihood Total Four T’s 

Inherent 5 5 25 Terminate Treat Tolerate Transfer 

Residual 4 4 16     

Target 4 2 8  X   
 

Controls: 
Assurance Framework approved by Government, delivery track record, for example Getting Building Fund, Adult Education Budget, 
Households into Work, use of 'single pot' approach with freedom and flexibility to manage funding deadlines, regular reporting of 
performance to relevant delivery boards to identify and resolve barriers to delivery, Annual Conversation with Government and associated 
feedback, resource funding to support delivery of projects, internal resources identified, quarterly SIF / Growth Directors update meetings, 
resources now agreed for transport development team, ELT regular discussions relating to internal capacity / resources. 

Action Plan Due Date RAG 

Strengthen collaborative approach with Local Authorities to support and develop delivery 
capacity and encouraging the use of pre-development funding offer. 
 

31 March 2023  

Explore wider capacity and identify responsibilities and/or key roles including consideration of 
shared resources (procurement, legal etc) to improve efficiency of routes to delivery (working 
with all Directorates via ELT). 

31 March 2023  

Recently established Task and Finish Procurement Group to consider delivery aspects for 
routes to delivery / efficiencies. 
 

Completed 

Action plan following report from Task and Finish Procurement Group approved by ELT and 
to be implemented. 
 

Completed 

Using opportunities to develop a shared vision with Local Authorities.   
 

31 March 2023  

P
age 129



 

Risk 2: Resilience 

There is a risk that the Combined Authority fails to develop and maintain robust arrangements to ensure business resilience 
and continuity. 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Corporate Development and Delivery 

 

 

  

Potential impact: Reputational damage, potential fines and recovery costs, increased insurance premiums/contraction of future cover, 
damage to public confidence, impact on economic recovery and prosperity of the City Region, negative impact on organisation's ability to 
deliver on its objectives and knock-on potential effect on future devolution.  

Risk Score Impact Likelihood Total Four T’s 

Inherent 5 5 25 Terminate Treat Tolerate Transfer 

Residual 5 4 20     

Target 4 2 8  X   
 

Controls: 
Suite of supporting ICT policies, business continuity arrangements detailed in Business Continuity Policy, regular business continuity desk 
top exercises, member of the Local Resilience Forum (LRF), Cyber Essentials Plus accredited, internal Resilience Group established. 
 

Action Plan Due Date RAG 

Arrange IOSH training using risk management days available from insurers. 
 

31 March 2023  

Roll out first phase of Business Continuity training to senior managers / resilience group. 
 

31 March 2024  

Implement the lessons learned from the most recent desktop exercise (theme: energy 
blackout). 
 

31 March 2023  

Deliver the Cyber Security Action Plan (consider Eurovision threat).  
 

30 June 2023  

P
age 130



 

Risk 3: Environment  

There is a risk that the City Region does not achieve its ambition of being net zero carbon by 2040. 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Policy, Strategy and Government Relations 

 

Potential impact:  Potential Impact - reputational damage, negative economic impacts for the City Region, increased costs for the 
organisation and associated budgetary impacts. 

Risk Score Impact Likelihood Total Four T’s 

Inherent 5 5 25 Terminate Treat Tolerate Transfer 

Residual 4 4 20     

Target 4 3 15  X   
 

Controls: 
“Pathway to Net Zero” document published, lobbying of Government for funding, development of sustainable transport solutions, Net Zero 
Delivery Board established, climate partnership involving external partners, climate and renewable energy portfolio role established. 
 

Action Plan Due Date RAG 

Net Zero Carbon approach incorporated into all policy development. 30 June 2023 
 

 

Net Zero Carbon approach to SIF projects to be developed. 
 

30 June 2023  

Develop an affordable Net Zero delivery plan for 3-5 years. 
 

30 June 2023  

Establish next phase of tidal project in conjunction with other renewable clean sources. 
 

31 March 2023  

Develop a Net Zero performance monitoring framework. 
 

31 March 2023  

Roll out climate awareness training across all Directorates. 
 

30 June 2023  

Develop a delivery plan for the de-carbonisation of the Combined Authority estate. 
 
 
 
 
 

31 March 2023  

P
age 131



 

Risk 4: Transport  

There is a risk that the role of transport in supporting the social, economic, and environmental objectives of the City Region is 
not maximised. 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Place 

 

Potential Impact - Reputational damage arising from lost opportunities, potentially significant financial impacts, impact on service, provision and 
service modernisation, impact on the City Region's competitiveness and associated impact on employment and prosperity, increased funding in 
transport causes increased work streams across all aspects of transport (accumulation risk) resulting in silo working / duplication, increased 
subsidies in relation bus network subsidy. 

Risk Score Impact Likelihood Total Four T’s 

Inherent 5 5 25 Terminate Treat Tolerate Transfer 

Residual 5 4 20     

Target 5 3 15  X   
 

Controls: Delivery Boards established which include regular reporting on performance to identify and resolve barriers to delivery of key projects, 
Directorate Plan that aligns to Corporate  Plan priorities, service specific plans to both manage business as usual and new project activities, 
qualified and expert staff delivering a range of transport-related services, including overseeing and operating the rail network, the bus network, the 
active travel network,  the key route network (including tunnels) and the Mersey Ferries, appropriate Level of resource / capacity  identified, 
ongoing work with transport partners / operators to maintain and improve service delivery, established business continuity and contingences plans 
for our directly operated services, recording and monitoring of use across all modes, changing services to reflect demand, ongoing negotiations 
with bus operators to consider medium term stability on lead in to bus reform. 

Action Plan Due Date RAG 

Work with Executive Director of Corporate Development and Delivery to establish 
interconnecting activities on resilience relating to transport (link to Risk 2).  

Completed 

Ensure transport solutions align to the wider Place agenda. 
 

31 March 2023  

Improve evidence and intelligence to prioritise schemes /services and make evidence-based 
decisions. 
 

31 March 2023  

Develop an investment programme on directly operated assets to ensure service continuity  
 

31 March 2024  

Maximise potential of digital technology on the transport network. 31 March 2023   

P
age 132



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Seek non-mode specific solutions to issues – employing a joined-up approach to build capacity 
and resources in the right place to ensure delivery objectives are met. 
 

30 June 2023  

Ensure that all transport activity and investment strive to contribute to Net Zero ambition. 30 June 2023  

Work with Executive Director for Corporate Services to address the cumulative financial risks 
associated with evolving methods of transport delivery (link to Risk 6). 

30 June 2023  

P
age 133



 

Risk 5: Economic Prosperity 

There is a risk that the Combined Authority does not contribute positively to economic prosperity within the City Region. 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Investment and Delivery 

 

 

 

 

Potential impact:  Negative impacts on employment and prosperity for residents and businesses in the City Region, reputational damage, 
impact on future funding and extent of devolution, damage to stakeholder relationships and confidence placed in the organisation to deliver. 

Risk Score Impact Likelihood Total Four T’s 

Inherent 5 5 25 Terminate Treat Tolerate Transfer 

Residual 5 4 20     

Target 5 2 10  X   
 

Controls: 
Plan for Prosperity sets out priorities for economy and investment, Government engagement to ensure understanding of funding streams 
required to support economic growth and influence prosperity, Delivery Boards established, Assurance Framework, Evaluation Framework. 
SIF Funding Framework 

Action Plan Due Date RAG 

Embed Plan for Prosperity and keep under review so that content remains current and 
relevant. 

31 March 2023 
 

 

Increased engagement with private sector, ensuring increased partnership/investment in 
growth projects.  
 

31 March 2023  

Develop and deliver growth projects on prioritised basis. 
 

31 March 2023  

Horizon scanning for funding opportunities to support economic growth. 31 March 2023  

Develop longer term view and strengthen linkages to the Investment Strategy. 
 

31 March 2023  

P
age 134



 

Risk 6: Financial Sustainability  

There is a risk that financial pressures will impact negatively on the financial sustainability of the Combined Authority. 

 
Risk Owner: Executive Director of Corporate Services 

 

 

Potential impact: Reputational damage, damage to stakeholder relationships and confidence placed in the organisation to deliver, unable to 
delivery on key priorities, positive impacts for City Region are not maximised. 

Risk Score Impact Likelihood Total Four T’s 

Inherent 5 5 25 Terminate Treat Tolerate Transfer 

Residual 5 4 20     

Target 5 2 10  X   
 

Controls: Budget monitoring and reporting processes, Reserves Policy, and strategy for use of reserves, Constitution and Financial 
Procedure Rules in place, income and expenditure controls, Delegated Authority and Scheme of Delegation in place, financial risk and 
reserves embedded into reporting, SIF Assurance Framework, established process for monitoring economic influences (i.e., Inflation, cost of 
living etc). 

Action Plan Due Date RAG 

Implement and maintain a dynamic Medium Term Financial Plan Completed for 2023/24 

Develop organisational approach to the identification and delivery of budget efficiencies and 
income opportunities.  
 

Completed for 2023/24 

Develop sustainable models for addressing the cumulative financial risks associated with 
evolving methods of transport delivery - (working with Place Directorate) (Link to Risk 4) 
 

31 March 2023  

Collaborate with constituent Local Authorities to understand both the individual and collective 
financial standing given the continued economic uncertainty / financial settlement for 2023/24  

Completed for 2023/24 

P
age 135



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title 

 
CIPFA Publication: Audit Committees: 
Practical Guidance for Local Authorities and 
Police 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 
Resources 
 

Summary of report  Report is for noting. 
 

Is this report exempt?  No  
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 
Financial impact 
 

No                    

Dispensation of decision sought and 
details of approval  

 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
Tick which ones are appropriate  

A Fairer City Region   
A Stronger City Region   
A Cleaner City Region   
A Connected City Region   
A Vibrant City Region 
 

 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Louise Outram - Chief Legal and Monitoring 
Officer  
 

Appendices No 
 
 
 Page 137

Agenda Item 9



Background Documents No 
 

 
  

Page 138



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Audit and Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday 22 March 2023 
 

Report of the Chief Legal and Monitoring Officer 
 

CIPFA PUBLICATION: AUDIT COMMITTEES: PRACTICAL GUIDANCE FOR LOCAL 
AUTHORITIES AND POLICE 

 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the members of the Audit and Governance 

Committee with an overview of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) guidance on Audit Committees, and to outline the key areas 
for consideration and action in the future development of the effectiveness of the 
Committee. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 
 

(a)  notes the report; and 
 

(b) agrees the suggested actions outlined in the report to be reported to and 
considered by the Combined Authority at its annual meeting in June. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 Key Elements of the Guidance 
 
3.1.1 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) published Audit 

Committees: Practical Guidance for Local Government and Police in October 2022. 
This updates the previous guidance from 2018. Compliance with the guidance is not 
mandatory but is good practice. 

 
3.1.2 The guidance consists of several components,  

 Audit Committees Position Statement 2022 

 Guiding the Audit Committee 

 The Audit Committee Member in a Local Authority 

 Interactive Appendix – Self-Assessment of Good Practice 

 Evaluating the Impact and Effectiveness of the Committee 
 

3.1.3 The main points for noting in the guidance are: 
 

 The document stresses the unique role and crucial importance of an 
independent and effective audit committee function in supporting robust 
governance, risk management and internal control; 
 

Page 139



 Discussion of the value of effective Committee membership, including the useful 
role that can be played by independent members; 

 

 The guidance presents a diagram of the various roles of an effective Audit 
Committee, and reflects these in an updated model Terms of Reference: 

 

 Maintenance of governance, risk, and control arrangements 

 Financial and governance reporting 

 Appropriate and effective arrangements for audit and assurance 
 
 

 
 

 

 The importance of reviewing the Committee’s effectiveness and impact and 
reflecting this in the Annual Report and in the Committee’s commitment to 
continuous improvement. The Annual Report of the Committee should also 
include details of how the Committee has fulfilled its Terms of Reference during 
the year, and give details of the development work, including training, it has 
undertaken. 

 

3.2 Suggested Actions 

 

3.2.1 Consideration of the guidance gives rise to five suggested actions for developing 
the effectiveness of the Audit and Governance Committee. These actions, and the 
indicative timescales, are: 

 

1. Undertake a comparison of the updated model Terms of Reference to the 
existing Committee Terms of Reference and suggest an appropriately 
updated version for implementation at the start of the 2023-24 municipal 
year. 

 

2. Review the guidance’s proposals on independent membership of the 
Committee and consider whether recruitment of additional independent Page 140



members to the Committee would be of benefit, and if so, progressing this 
with a view to commencement at the start of the 2023-24 municipal year. 

 
3. Continuing to deliver training to the Committee membership, including a 

briefing session for Committee members before each meeting, to give an 
opportunity to explore issues in more detail. This is a continuation of the work 
started in 2022-23. 

 
4. Implementing an annual review of effectiveness with the Committee 

members and in particular the Chair from 2023-24, using the tools provided 
within the guidance. 

 
5. Strengthening of the Annual Report of the Committee for 2023-24 to include 

the areas suggested by the guidance, and in particular the review of 
effectiveness work. 

 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Risks and Mitigation 
 
4.1.1 The existence of an effective Audit Committee function is vital to supporting the 

effectiveness of organisational risk management, as well as internal and financial 
control and governance. The guidance outlined in this report, and the suggested 
action arising from this, will, once implemented, strengthen the role of the 
Committee in this regard. 

 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 This report has set out the updated CIPFA guidance on Audit Committees and has 

suggested the actions arising from the guidance with a view to strengthening the 
effectiveness of the Audit and Governance Committee. 

 
 
 

LOUISE OUTRAM 
Chief Legal and Monitoring Officer 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 25 January 2023
	4 Accounting Policies
	Appendix 1 - Accounting Policies

	5 External Audit Update
	Appendix 1 - Mazars Progress Report
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9


	6 Internal Audit Update
	Appendix 1 - Internal Audit Update March 2023

	7 Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24
	Enc. 1 for Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24
	Enc. 2 for Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24
	Enc. 3 for Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24
	Enc. 4 for Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2023-24

	8 Risk Management Update
	Enc. 1 for Risk Management Update
	Enc. 2 for Risk Management Update

	9 CIPFA Publication: Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for Local Authorities and Police

